Alterations in responsiveness and mRNA expression of alpha-1 adrenergic receptors in neonatal ventral hippocampus lesioned rats

Aarthi Kamath

Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery

McGill University, Montreal

August 2007

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree

of Master's of Science (M.Sc.).

© Aarthi Kamath, 2007

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
ABSTRACT	
RÉSUMÉ	9

I. INTRODUCTION	
1. Schizophrenia	
2. HISTORY AND ETIOLOGY OF SCHIZOPHRENIA	
3. NEUROCHEMICAL ABERRATIONS IN SCHIZOPHRENIA	
3.1. Dopamine Hypothesis	
3.2. Glutamate Hypothesis	
4. NEURODEVELOPMENTAL HYPOTHESIS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA	
5. GENETIC FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH SCHIZOPHRENIA	14
6. Environmental Factors Associated with Schizophrenia	
7. LIMITATIONS TO HUMAN STUDIES	16
8. ANIMAL MODELS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA	17
9. ANIMAL MODELS OF THE NEURODEVELOPMENTAL HYPOTHESIS OF SCH	HIZOPHRENIA
10. NEONATAL VENTRAL HIPPOCAMPUS LESION RAT MODEL OF SCHIZOF	PHRENIA 21
10.1. The Hippocampus in Schizophrenia	
10.2. The nVH Lesion Model	
10.3. The Medial Prefrontal Cortex in nVH Lesioned Animals	
10.4. Dopaminergic Abnormalities in nVH Lesioned Animals	
11. INTERACTION OF OTHER NEUROTRANSMITTER SYSTEMS WITH THE DO	PAMINERGIC
System	
12. THE NORADRENERGIC SYSTEM	
12.1. Development of the Noradrenergic System	
12.2. Interaction of the Noradrenergic System with the Dopaminergic	: System 32

II. RATIONALE	34
1. THE NORADRENERGIC SYSTEM IN SCHIZOPHRENIA	34
2. ABNORMAL NORADRENERGIC SYSTEM IN ANIMAL MODELS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA .	35

III.	OBJECTIVES	, 	37
------	-------------------	-------	----

IV. METHODS	
1. Animals	
2. Drugs	
3. SURGERY	
4. Locomotor Behaviour	
5. PREPULSE INHIBITION (PPI)	
6. IN SITU HYBRIDIZATION	
6.1. Tissue Preparation	
6.2. Oligonucleotide Probes	
6.3. Preparation of Digoxigenin-labeled Oligonucleotide Probes	
6.4. Pre-hybridization Steps	
6.5. Post-hybridization Steps	
7. LESION ANALYSIS	
8. DATA ANALYSIS	

V. RESULTS	
1. LESION VERIFICATION	
2. LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY	
2.1. Locomotor Response to α -1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.1 mg/kg)	
2.2. Locomotor Response to α -1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.3 mg/kg)	
2.3. Locomotor Response to α-1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.6 mg/kg)	
3. SENSORIMOTOR GATING	55
3.1. Effect of α -1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.3 mg/kg) on PPI	55
3.2. Effect of α-1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.45 mg/kg) on PPI	55
3.3. Effect of α -1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.6 mg/kg) on PPI	
3.4. Blockade of the Effect of α -1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.45 mg/kg) on I	PPI by
Pretreatment with α -1 AR Antagonist Prazosin (1.0 mg/kg)	
3.5. Effect of α-1 AR Antagonist Prazosin (1.0 mg/kg) on PPI	59
4. IN SITU HYBRIDIZATION	65

VI. DISCUSSION		69
1. Abnormal Functi	ION OF A-1 AR IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS MAY	Y NOT AFFECT
LOCOMOTOR ACTIVIT	Υ	
2. Abnormal a-1 AR	R IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS MAY BE RESPONSIE	BLE FOR
SENSORIMOTOR GATIN	NG DEFICITS	73
3. SUBTYPE-SPECIFIC	ALTERATIONS OF A-1 AR MRNA IN MPFC OF NV	H LESIONED
ANIMALS		

VII. CONCLUSION	
VIII. REFERENCES:	83
APPENDIX	105

TABLE OF FIGURES

REPRESENTATION OF HIPPOCAMPAL FORMATION IN NVH LESIONED
ANIMALS
LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS FOLLOWING 0.1
MG/KG CIRAZOLINE
LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS FOLLOWING 0.3 MG/KG CIRAZOLINE
<u></u>
LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS FOLLOWING 0.6
MG/KG CIRAZOLINE
EFFECT OF 0.3 MG/KG CIRAZOLINE ON PPI IN NVH LESIONED
<u>ANIMALS</u>
EFFECT OF 0.45 MG/KG CIRAZOLINE ON PPI IN NVH LESIONED
ANIMALS
EFFECT OF 0.6 MG/KG CIRAZOLINE ON PPI IN NVH LESIONED
<u>ANIMALS</u>
BLOCKADE OF THE EFFECT OF CIRAZOLINE ON PPI WITH PRAZOSIN
PRETREATMENT
EFFECT OF 1.0 MG/KG PRAZOSIN ON PPI IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS 64
EXPRESSION OF A-IA, A-IB AND A-ID ADRENERGIC RECEPTOR MRNA IN MDEC OF NULL ESIONED ANIMALS
IN MITCOLUCITIONED AMINALS
OUANTIFICATION OF EXPRESSION OF A-1A, A-1B AND A-1D
ADRENERGIC RECEPTOR MRNA IN MPFC OF NVH LESIONED
ANIMALS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor and mentor, Dr. Lalit K. Srivastava, for providing me with this opportunity to pursue my research interests, and for his guidance which has helped me improve considerably. I am also grateful to Dr. Sanjeev Bhardwaj for teaching me many of the surgical and molecular procedures needed to conduct my research. My colleague, Irina Al-Khairi, has provided me with a great deal of technical assistance and moral support throughout my research experience, and I have sincerely enjoyed our stimulating dialogues on our work. I would also like to thank my colleague, Moogeh Baharnoori, for her help in conducting DIG-labeled in situ hybridization and sensorimotor gating experiments.

I am very grateful to Dr. Joseph Rochford and Marie-Eve Fortier for their technical assistance in sensorimotor gating studies, without which a large part of my research would not have been possible.

Finally, I'd like to express my sincere gratitude to my husband and my family for their infinite support, patience, and inspiration through these past two years.

This work was funded by a grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research.

ABBREVIATIONS

DA , Dopamine
AMPH, amphetamine
NE, norepinephrine
AR, adrenergic receptor
PCP, phencyclidine
NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate
nVH , neonatal ventral hippocampus
VH, ventral hippocampus
VTA, ventral tegmental area
PFC , prefrontal cortex
mPFC , medial prefrontal cortex
NAcc, nucleus accumbens
mRNA , messenger ribonucleic acid
PD , postnatal day
PPI , prepulse inhibition
PP , prepulse intensity
ANOVA, analysis of variance

ABSTRACT

Neonatal ventral hippocampus (nVH) lesion in rats is a widely accepted animal model of schizophrenia due to the exclusively post-pubertal emergence of many schizophrenia-like abnormalities. Previous studies have shown increased ligand binding of α -1 adrenergic receptors (AR) in the frontal cortex of post-pubertal nVH lesioned rats, compared to sham-operated control rats. Also, pretreatment with α -1 AR antagonist prazosin reversed amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion in controls, but failed to do so in lesioned animals. In order to investigate the hypothesis that nVH lesions may lead to hyperactivity of α -1 AR, we studied locomotor behavior and prepulse inhibition (PPI) in post-pubertal (PD56-90) sham and lesioned animals in response to different doses of α -1 AR agonist cirazoline. Results showed that 0.6 mg/kg cirazoline significantly increased locomotor activity in both groups of animals, without any differential effect on nVH lesioned animals. However, lesioned animals showed a substantial decrease in PPI in response to an intermediate dose of 0.45 mg/kg cirazoline that did not significantly reduce PPI in control animals. This deficit was blocked by pretreatment with prazosin, demonstrating that the effect of cirazoline was through activation of α -1 ARs. Together, these results suggest that nVH lesioned animals show a hyperactive α -1 AR system that may regulate at least some behaviors that are abnormal in these animals. In situ hybridization using digoxigenin-labeled, subtype-specific oligonucleotide probes for a-1 AR mRNA revealed a significantly higher number of cells labeled for α -1A AR mRNA, a lower number of cells labeled for α -1D AR mRNA, and no difference in the number of cells labeled for α -1B AR mRNA in the medial prefrontal cortex of nVH lesioned rats. These results suggest that alterations at the level of transcription of genes encoding for some α -1 AR subtypes may be responsible for the abnormal adrenergic system in nVH lesioned animals.

RÉSUMÉ

La lésion ventrale néonatale de l'hippocampe (nVH) chez les rats est largement admise comme modèle animal de la schizophrénie. Des études antérieures ont montré une augmentation de liaison aux récepteurs adrénergiques (AR) α -1 dans le cortex frontal des rats post-pubères ayant des lésions au niveau du nVH (nVHL) comparativement aux rats contrôles. De plus, l'hyperlocomotion normalement induite chez les rats contrôles par l'amphétamine est abolit par le prétraitement de ces rats avec le prazosin, un antagoniste du AR α -1, alors que ce dernier est sans effet sur les rats avec lésions.. Afin d'investiguer l'hypothèse que des lésions au niveau du nVH peuvent mener à l'hyperactivité du AR α -1, nous avons étudié les comportements locomoteurs et la «prepulse inhibition» (PPI) chez les rats contrôles (PD56-90) et les nVHL, en réponse à différentes doses de l'agoniste adrénergique a-1 cirazoline. Les résultats montrent qu'une dose de 0.6 mg/kg de cirazoline augmente significativement l'activité motrice dans les deux groupes d'animaux, sans effet différentiel chez les nVHL. Cependant, les nVHL présentent une diminution substantielle du PPI suite à l'administration de 0.45 mg/kg de cirazoline, laquelle dose ne réduit pas de manière significative la PPI chez les contrôles. Ce déficit a été bloqué par le prétraitement avec le prazosin, démontrant que les effets de la cirazoline sont médiés via l'activation du AR α -1. Ensemble, ces résultats suggèrent que les nVHL ont une hyperactivité du système adrénergique α -1, laquelle peut mener à certains comportements anormaux chez ces animaux. Nous avons utilisé des sondes marquées avec digoxigenin pour faire de l'hybridation in situ. Les sondes étaient spécifiques pour différents sous-types d'oligonucléotides d'ARNm de AR α -1. Les resultats ont indiqué un nombre sensiblement plus élevé de cellules marquées par l'ARNm α -1A, un nombre inférieur de cellules marquées par l'ARNm α -1D, et aucune différence dans le nombre de cellules marquées par l'ARNm α -1B des AR dans le cortex préfrontal médial de nVHL. Ces résultats suggèrent que des changements au niveau de la transcription des gènes codant pour certains sous-types de α -1 AR sont responsables d'anomalies du système adrénergique chez les animaux avec des lésions du nVH.

I. INTRODUCTION:

1. Schizophrenia:

The term 'schizophrenia', derived from the Greek words *schizo* (split) and *phren* (mind), was coined by Swiss psychiatrist Eugen Bleuler to describe a mental illness characterized by, but not limited to, a loss of contact with reality¹. This debilitating illness affects 1% of the general population, with symptoms emerging during late adolescence to early adulthood, and, on average, at an earlier age for males than for females². The symptoms that usually lead to diagnosis are the 'positive symptoms' of schizophrenia that include delusions, hallucinations, and bizarre behavior that cannot be justified by mood disorders³. However, in addition to positive symptoms, patients may show 'negative symptoms' that include avolition, alogia, anhedonia, and blunted affect, as well as cognitive deficits that include impairments in attention, learning and memory, and sensorimotor gating. The combination of symptoms exhibited by each patient diagnosed with schizophrenia varies, making the categorization of these various symptoms into one disorder debatable.

2. History and Etiology of Schizophrenia:

Early theories suggested that the positive symptoms that we now associate with schizophrenia were a result of possession of the body by evil spirits. However, German physician Emile Kraepelin later identified this illness as an organic disorder of the mind and named it 'dementia praecox'⁴, which was later changed to 'schizophrenia' by Eugen Bleuler¹. Although we have a much better understanding of this disorder since then, the etiology of schizophrenia is still largely unknown. Family studies have shown

that the risk of developing schizophrenia is higher in family members of patients with schizophrenia in comparison to the general population, with the risk being higher in first degree relatives and decreasing in more distant relatives⁵. While this familial aggregation suggests a genetic predisposition to schizophrenia, twin studies have revealed that genetic inheritance alone may be insufficient to explain the etiology of this disorder. Monozygotic twins, who share all their genes, have a concordance rate of 30-50% for schizophrenia, while dizygotic twins, who share half a set of their genes, have a concordance rate of approximately 10%, similar to that of non-twin siblings⁶. A more thorough analysis into the etiology of schizophrenia reveals that a complex interaction of multiple genes and environmental factors, some of which are discussed later, increases an individual's vulnerability to the disorder^{7, 8}.

3. Neurochemical Aberrations in Schizophrenia:

Similar to its etiology, the neuropathologies of schizophrenia have also been controversial. However, over the years, converging evidence have implicated an abnormality of the neurotransmitter system in the brain in schizophrenia. In particular, dopamine, a neurotransmitter that plays a role in voluntary movements and motivation, has been shown to be disrupted in schizophrenia.

3.1. Dopamine Hypothesis:

The 'dopamine hypothesis' of schizophrenia developed following the discovery that conventional anti-psychotic drugs, which can ameliorate positive symptoms in schizophrenia patients, are efficient D2 dopamine receptor blockers^{9, 10}. Also, drugs

such as amphetamine (AMPH) and cocaine, which increase DA release and/or inhibit its reuptake, trigger psychosis in normal individuals and amplify symptoms in schizophrenia patients¹¹. In addition, positron emission tomography (PET) studies have shown an exaggerated increase in dopamine release and its catabolism in the striatum of schizophrenia patients in comparison to normal individuals following AMPH treatment^{12, 13}, suggesting a hyperactive dopamine system in schizophrenia. Later extensions to the dopamine hypothesis incorporated negative and cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia. Studies of the prefrontal cortex (PFC) in schizophrenia patients have shown a reduced dopaminergic tone in this brain region, supporting the hypothesis that negative and cognitive symptoms may be due to a hypodopaminergic state in regions of the prefrontal cortex^{14, 15}.

Despite the intial popularity of the dopamine hypothesis, conventional antipsychotic drugs, such as haloperidol, failed to improve negative and cognitive symptoms in patients^{16, 17}. Also, atypical antipsychotic drugs such as clozapine, which have lower affinity for D2 dopamine receptors and higher affinity for other neurotransmitter receptors such as D4 dopamine receptors¹⁸, adrenergic¹⁹, serotonergic²⁰ and cholinergic²¹ receptors, were more efficient at ameliorating positive, negative and cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia^{22, 23}, forcing scientists to consider additional explanations to the neurobiology of this disorder.

3.2. Glutamate Hypothesis:

The 'glutamate hypothesis' of schizophrenia came about because glutamatergic N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonists, such as phencyclidine (PCP) and ketamine, produce a more extensive range of schizophrenia symptoms (i.e. positive, negative and cognitive symptoms) in normal individuals and exacerbate those in schizophrenia patients, suggesting a hypoactive glutamatergic system in schizophrenia²⁴⁻²⁷. Glutamate receptor antagonists also increase dopamine release in the striatum, while reducing it in the frontal cortex²⁸. Furthermore, atypical antipsychotic drugs that have better success at treating all categories of schizophrenia symptoms not only block dopamine receptors, but also appear to enhance NMDA receptor activity²⁹. Some studies have shown decreased expression of NMDA and non-NMDA receptors in the hippocampus of post-mortem schizophrenia brains³⁰⁻³², while other studies have shown increased glutamate uptake and decreased glutamate release in the frontal cortex³³.

4. Neurodevelopmental Hypothesis of Schizophrenia:

Kraeplin and other neuroscientists in the 20th century suggested that schizophrenia may be a result of insults that cause cerebral maldevelopment⁴. However, this theory did not receive much attention until Daniel Weinberger reinforced 'the neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia'³⁴ proposing that early prenatal or postnatal insults, involving a combination of genetic and environmental factors, can disrupt the normal sequence of brain development such that symptoms of this aberration may be undetectable until later in life, when late maturing neural systems develop. Support for a neurodevelopmental basis of this disorder comes from post-mortem studies of brains of schizophrenia patients that show abnormalities in neuronal migration, size and organization^{35, 36} - all events that occur early in life before any clinical symptoms emerge. In addition, some robust neuronal changes are seen in schizophrenia brains which include increased ventricular volume, decreased brain weight, and decreased hippocampal volume37-40, which are found in first-episode schizophrenia patients and, in some studies, are found to stay consistent throughout the course of their illness^{41, 42}. Histological studies reveal an absence of gliosis that is characteristic of neurodegeneration^{43, 44}, suggesting that the loss of volume seen in schizophrenia brains may not be due to neurodegeneration but a pre-existing dysplasia. However, other studies have suggested that the morphological changes seen in schizophrenia brains may be indicative of neurodegeneration as they have shown progressive brain volume reductions and ventricular enlargements that are accelerated in comparison to that seen during normal aging⁴⁵⁻⁴⁸. It is important to note that with a heterogenous disorder such as schizophrenia, neurodevelopmental or neurodegenerative abnormalities need not be exclusive to explain the etiology of the disorder. It is possible that these two factors act synergistically to produce the abnormalities that lead to the diagnosis of schizophrenia.

5. Genetic Factors Associated with Schizophrenia:

Over the years, linkage studies have indicated numerous genes as being associated with schizophrenia, some of which have been replicated in independent studies. Most of these candidate genes are involved in neurodevelopment or normal synaptic function. For example, neuregulin-1 (NRG-1) has been linked to schizophrenia via fine-mapping across chromosome 8p21-p22 in different populations^{49, 50}. It has been suggested that polymorphisms in the neuregulin gene (NRG-1) may increase vulnerability to the disorder by disrupting one of more of its functions, e.g. NMDA receptor regulation, axon guidance, myelination or glial cell growth and development. Another susceptibility gene for schizophrenia that has shown strong association in various populations is the gene encoding dystrobrevin-binding protein, dysbindin (DTNBP-1)⁵¹⁻⁵⁴. Dysbindin is a protein located at presynaptic terminals and postsynaptic densities in the brain. Presynaptic dysbindin is reduced in glutamatergic neurons of the hippocampus of schizophrenia brains⁵⁵, suggesting that a variation of DTNBP1 may increase risk of developing schizophrenia through dysregulation of glutamatergic trafficking or release. A gene located on chromosome 22q11 that encodes catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT), an enzyme that is involved in the clearance of synaptic dopamine, has also been associated with schizophrenia⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸. A functional polymorphism in the alleles alters enzyme activity such that one or two valine alleles increase enzyme activity, decreasing dopamine levels in critical brain regions such as the frontal cortex, and perhaps increasing risk for schizophrenia. Other studies have shown a (1:11) chromosomal translocation, which disrupts the DISC-1 gene, segregates with schizophrenia and other affective disorders⁵⁹⁻⁶¹. DISC-1 protein can be detected in many areas of the cerebral cortex, the hippocampus, lateral septum and hypothalamus, and appears to have a role in neural migration and maturation during development, as well as in synaptic transmission and plasticity in adulthood^{62, 63}. In addition, a decrease in the transcription of genes encoding proteins involved in synaptic function has also

been seen in schizophrenia brains⁶⁴. These results support the hypothesis that schizophrenia may be a disease of the synapse where normal synaptic transmission is impaired early in life leading to abnormal synaptic formation, with symptoms of this aberration surfacing later in life.

6. Environmental Factors Associated with Schizophrenia:

Along with genetic variations, many environmental factors have also been suggested to increase vulnerability to schizophrenia. Obstetric complications, which include complications during pregnancy (e.g. bleeding, diabetes and pre-eclempsia), complications during delivery (e.g. asphyxia and uterine atony), and fetal abnormality (e.g. low birth weight and congenital abnormality), have been suggested to increase risk of the offspring to schizophrenia⁶⁵⁻⁶⁸. Other environmental insults suggested to increase susceptibility to schizophrenia include maternal infection, maternal malnutrition, increased stress, and adolescent drug abuse⁶⁹⁻⁷². However, the effect size of these environmental factors is small, suggesting that these insults may better predict the emergence of schizophrenia or its pathologies in individuals who have a genetic predisposition to the disorder than in those who have a lower genetic risk.

7. Limitations to Human Studies:

Due to the complexity of schizophrenia and a different combination of symptoms in each patient suffering from the disorder, identifying specific neuronal markers and causes of the disease is very difficult. Also, the population of nonmedicated patients of schizophrenia is small, and limitations in present experimental methods restrict the information obtained. Studies on post-mortem brains allow more in-depth analysis of molecular and neuropathological abnormalities in schizophrenia; however, these data are most often confounded by cause and age of death, and antipsychotic medication, further complicating the search for a better understanding of schizophrenia. Therefore, in order to study the basis of schizophrenia, the neuronal aberrations involved in the disease, and effective therapeutics to treat its symptoms and pathologies, animal models of schizophrenia are often necessary.

8. Animal Models of Schizophrenia:

Generating animal models for mental illnesses that are exclusive to humans is complicated. One of the obvious reasons is the inability of animals to represent hallmark features of psychiatric disorders such as hallucinations, delusions, obsessions, or mania. Since neuropathological markers for most mental disorders have yet to be identified, the validity of these animal models have to be based on particular symptoms, which may or not may not be characteristic to the disorder. Furthermore, the strength of these models depends on the efficiency of our experimental methods to capture and analyze behavioral analogies to human symptoms. Other complications include the structural and functional variation of genes between animals and humans, such that manipulation of certain genes may have different effects on the animal brain from the human brain. Despite these drawbacks, animal models for psychiatric illnesses are, for the time being, indispensable.

17

In order to study schizophrenia using animal models, certain animal behaviors are identified as being analogous to specific symptoms seen in patients. For example, positive symptoms in patients are associated with hyperlocomotion to stress and novelty in animals; supersensitivity of patients to psychostimulants is associated with hyperlocomotion in animals in response to psychostimulants. Negative symptoms seen in patients such as social withdrawal and anhedonia, can be studied in animals by monitoring social interaction with conspecifics and motivation for certain drugs of abuse, respectively. Arguably, the more valid animal correlates of schizophrenia symptoms are cognitive deficits that can be more easily and efficiently studied in both animals and humans because fundamental cognitive processes in both are very similar. For example, attentional deficits can be studied through tasks on latent inhibition, sensorimotor deficits can be studied through pre-pulse inhibition (PPI) tests, and memory deficits can be monitored in animals using delayed non-matching to sample tasks and radial-arm mazes.

Animal models have been generated to better test the various hypotheses of schizophrenia – the oldest models being based on 'the dopamine hypothesis' of the disorder. In this model, animals are tested on their behaviors in response to various dopamine receptor agonists, e.g. amphetamine and apomorphine, as well as dopamine receptor antagonists, e.g. raclorpide ⁷³. This model was strong for a short while because dopamine receptor agonists simulate many symptoms of schizophrenia such as stimulant-related stereotypies and sensorimotor deficits, while antagonists such as haloperidol and other neuroleptics are able to ameliorate these aberrant behaviors⁷⁴.

However, these models are unable to mimic many of the negative symptoms seen in schizophrenia patients, making it an incomplete model of the disorder. With the emergence of 'the glutamate hypothesis' of schizophrenia, animals models were generated involving manipulations to NMDA receptors that showed many behavioral abnormalities relevant to schizophrenia. For example, mice with reduced expression of NMDA receptors displayed increased motor activity and stereotypy and deficits in social interactions⁷⁵. Also, NMDA receptor antagonists such as PCP and MK-801 were used to induce positive and negative schizophrenia-like behaviors in animals, and to test the effect of potential antipsychotic drugs on these behaviors^{76, 77}. In these models, atypical antipsychotics such as clozapine had a better effect at ameliorating abnormal behaviors than typical neuroleptics, supporting an abnormality in other neurotransmitter systems in schizophrenia.

9. Animal Models of the Neurodevelopmental Hypothesis of Schizophrenia:

With the emergence of the neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia, many factors that have been proposed to interfere with normal brain development to increase one's risk of developing schizophrenia have been studied using animal models. The functions of various susceptibility genes for schizophrenia that may be involved in neurodevelopment have been explored using genetically altered mice. These models permit the study of variations in multiple alleles and their interactions that may increase the risk of developing schizophrenia. For example, mice heterozygous for mutations in domains of Neuregulin-1 (nrg-1+/-) exhibit PPI deficits, abnormal exploratory behavior, deficits in latent inhibition, and decreased expression of NMDA receptors⁷⁸. Some of the behavioral abnormalities in these mice are ameliorated with clozapine, suggesting that variations in NRG-1 may contribute to some of the abnormalities seen in schizophrenia. Another model involves mice with a deletion in the gene for neural cell adhesion molecule 180 (NCAM-180), which is involved in neural migration. These mice show abnormal neural migration within the subventricular zone, enlarged ventricles, morphological abnormalities of the hippocampus, and PPI deficits⁷⁹. In another model, mice with a genetic mutation that results in the expression of only a small percent of NR1 subunits of the NMDA receptor show spontaneous hyperlocomotion that attenuates after treatment with haloperidol, and social behavioral deficits that can be reduced with clozapine⁸⁰.

The significance of prenatal and early postnatal environments in neurodevelopment has also been investigated through environmental animal models of schizophrenia. One such model involves deprivation of nutrients, such as dietary protein, in rats during these early stages of brain development. This nutritional deficiency shows abnormal development and function of the hippocampus in mature rats which may relate to deficits in learning and memory⁸¹⁻⁸³. Some studies on the effect of prenatal viral infection on cortical and hippocampal neurodevelopment have shown decreased area of these brain regions and a low number of reelin-positive cells, implicating a defect in neuronal migration⁸⁴. Animal models of chronic placental insufficiency, involving a unilateral ligation of the uterine artery, have demonstrated fetal growth restriction observed in the form of enlarged lateral ventricles and reduced

hippocampal volume without signs of gliosis, along with abnormal neuronal migration in the cortex and some behavioral abnormalities analogous to symptoms of schizophrenia⁸⁵⁻⁸⁷. Other animal models that involve disruption of early neurodevelopment include prenatal injection of methylazoxymethanol (MAM), a toxin that kills actively replicating cells, which leads to abnormal social behaviors and brain morphology in mature animals⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰. Certain strains of rat have shown post-pubertal abnormalities in sensorimotor gating and spatial learning following maternal deprivation early in postnatal life⁹¹, indicating that maternal deprivation may be responsible for some of the cognitive deficits seen in certain groups of schizophrenia patients.

10. Neonatal Ventral Hippocampus Lesion Rat Model of Schizophrenia:

The neonatal ventral hippocampus (nVH) lesion rat model was introduced in order to test the neurodevelopmental hypothesis that early aberrations to the hippocampus and its connections may lead to delayed behavioral and molecular abnormalities similar to those seen in schizophrenia⁹². This model was based on the results of independent studies on the neuropathology of schizophrenia which have provided convergent data indicating an abnormality in the structure and function of the hippocampal formation in patients suffering from schizophrenia.

10.1. The Hippocampus in Schizophrenia:

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies of the brain of schizophrenia patients show decreased volume of the hippocampus and abnormal hippocampal shape^{93, 94}. These abnormalities are consistent in prodromal and first-episode subjects, removing any confound of anti-psychotic medication^{95, 96}. Unaffected twins, who have a genetic predisposition to schizophrenia, have also shown decreased hippocampal volume in comparison to controls, although not as much as that of their affected twin⁹⁷. Other studies have shown reduced neuronal markers, such as N-acetyl aspartate (NAA), reduced metabolic activity, and altered neurochemical activity in the hippocampus of schizophrenia patients^{98, 99}. Furthermore, electrical stimulation of the parahippocampal gyrus in normal individuals causes psychic phenomena¹⁰⁰. Together, these results suggest that the hippocampus may be central to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia.

The hippocampal formation, which includes the dentate gyrus, Ammon's horn (CA1 - CA3) and the subiculum, receives most of its input from the entorhinal cortex¹⁰¹. The hippocampus, in turn, has projections to the prefrontal cortex, the amygdaloid complex, the nucleus accumbens, and the hypothalamus¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴. Due to the vast connectivity of the hippocampus, disruption of this area may cause abnormal functioning of connecting brain regions.

Morphological studies have shown misplaced and aberrantly clustered pre-alpha cells in the entorhinal cortex¹⁰⁵ and disarray in the orientation of pyramidal neurons of the hippocampus¹⁰⁶ of schizophrenia patients. Since neuronal migration occurs very

22

early in development, these results suggest that an aberration in the development of the hippocampal formation may be an important neuropathology in schizophrenia. In fact, high levels of stress have been shown to disrupt hippocampal neurogenesis, reduce dendritic density, and lead to atrophy of existing cells¹⁰⁷. One possibility is that an interaction of genetic and environmental insults may stress the nervous system during critical stages of neurodevelopment, leading to abnormality of the hippocampus and its connecting brain regions, and the emergence of some of the symptoms of schizophrenia.

10.2. The nVH Lesion Model:

Animal studies have demonstrated that bilateral excitotoxic lesion of the ventral hippocampus (VH) in the adult rat, which is analogous to the anterior hippocampus in humans, spontaneous locomotion and amphetamine-induced increases hyperlocomotion¹⁰⁸. Dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens of (NAcc) of lesioned animals are increased, while the levels of dopamine and its metabolites DOPAC and HVA are reduced in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC). Dorsal hippocampus lesions fail to induce these changes¹⁰⁹. More interestingly, bilateral excitotoxic lesion of the VH during early postnatal life, i.e. postnatal day (PD) 7, leads to normal prepubertal behaviors but many abnormal behaviors after puberty⁹². At PD56, nVH lesioned rats show increased locomotor activity to mild stress such as novelty and saline injections in comparison to sham-lesioned animals. Also, AMPH-induced hyperlocomotion is enhanced in nVH lesioned rats as compared to controls. Pretreatment with haloperidol, a dopamine receptor antagonist, reverses these behaviors. nVH lesioned animals also show impaired grooming and social interaction^{110, 111}, reduction in reward-seeking

behaviors¹¹², as well as deficits in spatial learning¹¹³, sensorimotor gating¹¹⁴ and working memory¹¹⁵.

Other interesting studies have shown that nVH lesion at PD3 also caused abnormal behaviors that are almost all exclusively post-pubertal¹¹⁶. nVH lesions at PD14, however, showed behavioral abnormalities similar to rats lesioned in adulthood within 3 weeks of surgery (PD35). Interestingly, transient inactivation of the VH at PD7 using tetrodotoxin (TTX) resulted in enhanced stress- and amphetamine-induced hyperactivity compared to controls, which were not seen when VH of animals were infused with TTX in adulthood¹¹⁷. These results demonstrate that a 'critical period' exists within which a loss of function of the VH may cause developmental aberrations leading to various abnormal post-pubertal behaviors analogous to symptoms of schizophrenia. It is known that during the period of late gestation to early postnatal weeks, the hippocampus of rats undergoes extensive neurogenesis and strengthens its active synapses with other brain regions such as the prefrontal cortex, amygdala, nucleus accumbens, and thalamus^{118, 119}. This period is considered equivalent to the second half of human fetal development^{120, 121}. Disruption of the hippocampus during this period may interfere with normal synaptic strengthening and pruning leading to misconnections which may play a role in the abnormal development and function of connecting brain regions, and the aberrant behaviors analogous to symptoms of schizophrenia.

Studies on the different effects of nVH lesions in male and female rats have shown that although both sexes showed increased post-pubertal locomotor activity only male rats showed a significant deficit in spatial working memory¹²². Furthermore, while female rats showed a decrease in the number of social interactions, males showed a decrease in the duration of these interactions. These studies demonstrate a differential effect of VH abnormality on the behavior of different sexes.

In addition to sex differences, nVH lesions also have a differential effect on different strains of rat¹²³. Different strains of rat vary in many respects, such as their behavioral and neuroendocrine responsiveness to stress, and preference for drugs of abuse. Fischer rats are on one end of the spectrum, being highly sensitive to stressful situations, and relatively resistant to inflammatory diseases. Lewis rats, on the other hand, show reduced responsiveness to stress, high susceptibility to autoimmune diseases, and very high sensitivity to drugs of abuse. Sprague-Dawley rats show moderate levels of all three phenomena. nVH lesion on each of these strains of rat demonstrates an interaction of genetic makeup with environmental manipulations, where nVH lesions caused exclusively post-pubertal disruptions in behavior in Sprague-Dawley rats, while the same lesions disrupted pre-pubertal and post-pubertal behaviors in Fischer rats. nVH lesions, however, had no significant effect on the behavior of Lewis rats at any age. These results support theories of gene-environment interactions in complex mental disorders by demonstrating that genetic differences that influence differential responsiveness to neurodevelopmental disruption may determine the emergence of abnormal behaviors later in life.

25

10.3. The Medial Prefrontal Cortex in nVH Lesioned Animals:

Early abnormality of the VH is thought to also affect development of connecting brain regions, which may be responsible for many of the abnormalities seen later on in life. Of these connecting brain areas, the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), which receives afferent projections from the hippocampus¹²⁴, is largely implicated in the neuropathology of schizophrenia. Post-mortem studies of brains of schizophrenia patients have shown a reduction in size of cortical neurons and a decreased number of cortical GABAergic neurons¹²⁵⁻¹³⁰. PET studies have revealed lower activity of the frontal brain regions during various cognitive tasks, which has been correlated with negative symptoms of schizophrenia^{131, 132}.

In the nVH lesion model of schizophrenia, rats display many cognitive deficits, such as impairments in working memory, attention and learning, suggesting abnormal mPFC function in these animals^{113, 114}. Lesion of the mPFC in adult nVH lesioned rats reverses the post-pubertal hypersensitivity to novelty-stress and AMPH seen in these animals¹³³. These results propose that development in the absence of a normal hippocampus leads to disruption of normal neuronal circuits, particularly in the mPFC, which may be responsible for the abnormal behaviors seen in nVH lesioned rats.

On a molecular level, nVH lesions are shown to induce rapid and transient DNA damage in the striatum and NAcc¹³⁴, possibly through connections via the mPFC. In vivo levels of N-acetylaspartate (NAA), a chemical marker of neuronal integrity, is reduced in the mPFC of nVH lesioned rats following puberty without a significant

change in cortical area size¹³⁵. Glutamate binding is increased post-pubertally in the mPFC, while D1, D2, and D3 dopamine receptor binding sites are decreased in the striatum^{136, 137}, possibly as compensatory mechanisms for a hypoactive glutamatergic and hyperactive dopaminergic systems, respectively. Expression of neurotrophic factor BDNF and transcription factor NGFI-B, which play a role in neurodevelopment and responses to stress and injury¹³⁸, are also reduced in the PFC of nVH lesioned animals post-puberty^{139, 140}. Decreases in the expression of glutamic acid decarboxylase-67 (GAD-67), a precursor of GABA, have also been found in the mPFC¹⁴¹. The enhanced mPFC metabolic response to VTA stimulations in nVH lesioned rats suggest a higher energy demand for a hyperactive mPFC in these animals¹⁴². Aberrations in intracellular signal transduction mechanisms have also been demonstrated through an attenuation of AMPH-induced increase in c-fos mRNA expression in mPFC, striatum and NAcc as compared to sham animals¹⁴³.

Morphological studies have demonstrated a reduction in dendritic length and branching, and spine density in the mPFC of adult nVH lesioned rats, as well as a decrease in spine density in the NAcc¹⁴⁴ suggesting altered neuronal plasticity in these brain regions due to a decrease of excitatory projections from the VH. Electrophysiological studies have shown increased spike firing in the mPFC¹⁴⁵ and NAcc¹⁴⁶ of nVH lesioned rats in response to VTA stimulation, demonstrating an abnormal response of these brain regions to dopamine release during stress. The increased NAcc firing in response to VTA stimulation was reversed by mPFC lesions¹⁴⁷, which is in correlation with behavioral data that has shown a reversal of locomotor deficits following mPFC lesion¹³³, suggesting that abnormal activation of the mPFC may be, at least partially, responsible for the abnormal behaviors seen in nVH lesioned animals during periods of stress.

10.4. Dopaminergic Abnormalities in nVH Lesioned Animals:

Initially, the neurochemical basis for hyperresponsiveness of nVH lesioned animals to psychostimulants was thought to be increased dopamine levels in the NAcc. However, studies have demonstrated that nVH lesioned rats show similar baseline and AMPH-induced levels of dopamine and its metabolites, DOPAC and HVA, in the NAcc as the control group before and after puberty¹⁴⁸. More surprisingly, another study has shown an attenuated increase in AMPH-induced release of DA in nVH lesioned rats¹⁴⁹. In support of this data, another study has shown that DA release in the NAcc in response to stress is attenuated in nVH lesioned rats, contrary to expected results considering behavioral hyperresponsiveness to stress¹⁵⁰. These results suggest that increased DA transmission and hyperlocomotion seen in lesioned rats may not be due to increased presynaptic DA release in the NAcc, but a dysfunction in postsynaptic DA receptors. Subsequent studies have shown that D2/D3 dopamine receptor agonist, quinpirole, but not D1 receptor agonist, SKF38393, increases locomotor activity in both sham and lesioned groups, with a higher increase in locomotion in lesioned animals¹⁵¹. Also, AMPH-induced hyperlocomotion in lesioned and sham animals was blocked by raclopride, a D2 dopamine receptor antagonist. Ligand autoradiography of the NAcc of nVH lesioned animals have shown that, following puberty, levels of D3 dopamine receptors are markedly reduced while levels of D2 dopamine receptors are unchanged¹³⁷. These results suggest that locomotor hyperactivity to stress and AMPH seen in nVH lesioned animals may be, at least in part, due to postsynaptic hypersensitivity of D2 dopamine receptors that have a stimulatory role on locomotor behavior, and/or decreased levels of D3 receptors that inhibit locomotion, at the level of NAcc.

11. Interaction of Other Neurotransmitter Systems with the Dopaminergic System:

In addition to the role of the dopaminergic system in behaviors abnormal in nVH lesioned animals, other neurotransmitter systems have also been shown to interact with the dopaminergic system in order to modulate these behaviors. For example, 5-HT(1B) serotonin receptors have been shown to play a permissive role in the locomotor response to acute AMPH, as well as in the development of sensitization to chronic AMPH¹⁵². Other studies have demonstrated that memory impairments caused by muscarinic acetylcholine receptor antagonists can be ameliorated by D2 dopamine receptor agonists in the hippocampus, indicating an interaction of the cholinergic and dopaminergic systems in mnemonic processing¹⁵³. Another neurotransmitter system that has been shown to play a vital role in dopamine-related behaviors is the noradrenergic system, which, more recently, has been suggested to be abnormal in schizophrenia as well as in some animal models of schizophrenia. Due to increasing support for a role of the noradrenergic system in various behaviors disrupted in schizophrenia, and its direct relevance to the present study, a more detailed description of this neurotransmitter system is provided below.

12. The Noradrenergic System:

Cell bodies of the central noradrenergic system originate in the locus coeruleus (LC) in the brainstem, which sends projections to various regions throughout the forebrain, including the hippocampus, amygdala, NAcc and cerebral cortex¹⁵⁴. These neurons release noradrenaline (NA), also known as norepinephrine, which is a catecholamine involved in many brain functions such as sleep-wakefulness, attention, novelty-induced behaviors, stress response, learning and memory¹⁵⁵. NA interacts with three families of G-protein linked adrenergic receptors (AR), each with three subtypes – α -1 AR (α -1A, α -1B, and α -1D), α -2 AR (α -2A, α -2B and α -2C) and β AR (β 1, β 2, and $(\beta_3)^{156, 157}$. NA has highest affinity for the α -2 ARs, followed by α -1 ARs, and lowest affinity for β ARs. α -1 ARs are linked to Gq proteins that activate the phospholipase C pathway which leads to activation of protein kinase C (PKC). α-2 ARs are linked to Gi/o proteins that inhibit adenylyl cyclase leading to reduced activation of protein kinase A (PKA). β AR are linked to Gs proteins that activate adenylyl cyclase leading to activation of PKA. Activated PKC and PKA then phosphorylate other proteins involved in a variety of neuronal events, such as ion flux, gene transcription, etc.

12.1. Development of the Noradrenergic System:

In the rat brain, noradrenergic neurons differentiate between gestational day (GD) 10 and 13, and NA can be detected in the brain soon after¹⁵⁸. Noradrenergic cell bodies begin to proliferate and their axons project to various regions of the brain by the last week of gestation. Projections of noradrenergic axons from the locus coeruleus to the cerebral cortex occurs between GD16-18. By the first postnatal week, the number of

noradrenergic cell bodies has reached adult levels; however, the axon terminals continue to proliferate and form axonal varicosities. The spontaneous firing rate of the locus coeruleus is low during the first week after birth, and then significantly increases during the following weeks until it reaches adult firing rates by PD20.

Interestingly, many known animal models of schizophrenia interfere with brain development during crucial time points of development of the noradrenergic system. For example, in the MAM-model of schizophrenia, pregnant dams are injected with MAM at GD16-17¹⁵⁹, the period when noradrenergic cell bodies send their axonal projections to the cerebral cortex. Hypoxia is administered during birth or during the first week after birth¹⁶⁰, which may disrupt proliferation of noradrenergic cell bodies. Similarly, nVH lesions should be performed within the first week after birth in order to lead to exclusively post-pubertal behavioral abnormalities¹⁶¹. These associations of time-frames for brain insult in animal models of schizophrenia, and periods of development of the noradrenergic system suggest that some abnormalities in schizophrenia may be a result of aberrations in normal development of the adrenergic system.

At birth, α -1 ARs are found at very low levels in the rat brain, which increase to above adult levels by PD20, and then decrease steadily to adult levels¹⁶². Some subtypes of α -2 AR (α -2A and C) are found at high levels in the brain at birth and decrease slightly by adulthood, while others (α -2B) are found at lower levels at birth and then increase to adult levels¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁵. β -ARs are found at very low levels at birth, but then

rapidly increase until PD20 to above adult levels, followed by a decrease to adult levels¹⁶⁶.

12.2. Interaction of the Noradrenergic System with the Dopaminergic System:

Investigation into the dynamics of the noradrenergic system and its interaction with the dopaminergic system in stress response has revealed that stress-induced release of NA in the mPFC leads to stress-induced release of DA in the NAcc¹⁶⁷. Other studies have shown that cortical NA release leads to cortical DA release through activation of α -1 AR, while cortical DA release leads to cortical NA release via activation of D1 dopamine receptors¹⁶⁸. Prazosin, an α -1 AR antagonist, reduces hyperlocomotion induced by d-amphetamine¹⁶⁹ and dose-dependently decreases burst firing of dopamine neurons in the VTA¹⁷⁰.

A very interesting study on the dynamics of NA and DA release in response to stress has shown that restraint stress leads to an initial, short-lived increase in NA release in the mPFC which corresponds with, and is necessary for, increased DA release in the NAcc¹⁷¹. This is followed by a delayed and sustained increase in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with, and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with, and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with, and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with, and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with, and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds with and is necessary for, a decrease in DA release in the mPFC which corresponds the required for the necessary accumbens and behavioral release in the mPFC may be required DA release may be required for restoring balance in the system after its reaction to the stressful stimulus. A balance between the noradrenergic and dopaminergic systems at the level of the mPFC may be important for

a normal accumbens stress-response, and this balance may be disrupted in psychiatric illnesses such as schizophrenia.

II. RATIONALE:

1. The Noradrenergic System in Schizophrenia:

In the past decade, atypical neuroleptics have gained a lot of attention due to their higher efficiency in ameliorating positive as well as negative and cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia¹⁷². These antipsychotic drugs act on many other neurotransmitter receptors in addition to dopamine receptors, such as serotonin, acetylcholine and noradrenaline receptors¹⁷³⁻¹⁷⁵, leading to the hypothesis that other neurotransmitter systems, and perhaps their interaction with the dopaminergic system, may also be disrupted in schizophrenia. Among these neurotransmitter systems, the noradrenergic system has received some modest attention due to its role in arousal, attention, and stress response. Recent hypotheses state that an aberration in the noradrenergic system in schizophrenia patients may be associated with the observed deficits in attention and information processing, and abnormal response to stress¹⁷⁶. In support of this hypothesis, molecular studies have demonstrated increased concentrations of noradrenaline (NA) in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients with schizophrenia when compared to the CSF of normal individuals and individuals with other psychiatric illnesses¹⁷⁷. Other studies have shown a positive correlation between negative symptoms of schizophrenia and NA levels in the CSF of patients during relapse¹⁷⁸. Such findings compel us to research the role of the noradrenergic system in the pathology of schizophrenia.

More recently, the significance of the noradrenergic system in mediating behaviors disrupted in schizophrenia has been studied in animals. Pharmacological studies have revealed that α -2 AR agonists, such as clonidine and guanfacine, reverse working memory impairments in aged primates and rats^{179, 180}, while α -1 AR agonists, such as phenylephrine and cirazoline, impair spatial working memory^{181, 182}. In addition, α -1 AR antagonist, urapidil, reverses working memory deficits due to stress¹⁸³. Other studies have shown that β AR antagonist, betaxolol, improves working memory performance in rats and monkeys¹⁸⁴. These results suggest that moderate levels of NA released during normal wakefulness enhance cognitive function by binding to and activating α -2 ARs, while higher levels of NA, released during stress, activate α -1 ARs and β AR, impairing cognitive function. In addition to working memory, α -1 ARs have also been shown to play an important role in other cognitive functions such as sensorimotor gating. a-1 AR agonists cirazoline, phenylephrine, and methoxamine have been shown to reduce PPI in rats via activation of central α -1 AR¹⁸⁵. The noradrenergic system also plays an important role in locomotor behavior. Modafinil, a drug used in the treatment of depression, increases locomotor activity in rats, mice and monkeys through activation of α -1 ARs^{186, 187}. Also, blockade of α -2 AR in the PFC of monkeys has been shown to increase locomotor behavior¹⁸⁸.

2. Abnormal Noradrenergic System in Animal Models of Schizophrenia:

In the MAM model of schizophrenia, rats that were exposed to MAM prenatally showed an exaggerated increase in NA in the mPFC following post-pubertal injections of MK-801, a noncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist¹⁵⁹. MK-801 also induces an exaggerated hyperlocomotion in MAM-exposed animals, suggesting that the

enhancement of NA release in the mPFC due to stress and drugs may be responsible for the abnormal locomotor behaviors seen in these animals. In the PCP animal model of schizophrenia, rats pretreated with prazosin show a reversal of PPI deficits induced by PCP, suggesting a role of α -1 AR in mediating negative symptoms of schizophrenia¹⁸⁹.

Previous autoradiography studies in our lab on the noradrenergic system in nVH lesioned animals revealed increased binding of [³H]prazosin to α -1 AR in the PFC of post-pubertal nVH lesioned animals, in comparison to sham animals¹⁹⁰. No difference in α -1 AR binding was seen in the NAcc of nVH lesioned animals. An increase in binding of norepinephrine transporter (NET) was seen in the mPFC and NAcc of nVH lesioned animals. However, no significant change in the expression of α -2 AR was seen in either brain regions of the lesioned animals. Also, behavioral data showed that pretreatment with α -1 AR antagonist prazosin reduces AMPH-induced hyperlocomotion in sham rats but fails to do so in nVH lesioned rats. These results suggest a possible increase in the sensitivity of α -1 AR in nVH lesioned animals following puberty, such that the doses of prazosin used in this study was insufficient to antagonize α -1 AR in these animals. An alternative hypothesis is that nVH lesions may lead to dysfunctional α -1 AR, such that these receptors do not modulate AMPH-related behaviors as they do in control animals.
III. OBJECTIVES:

My project was to study the initial hypothesis that nVH lesions may lead to a postpubertal increase in sensitivity of α -1 AR. I hypothesized that post-pubertal nVH lesioned animals may show an increased responsiveness to stimulation of α -1 AR. Since these receptors play an important role in locomotor activity and sensorimotor gating, I decided to study these behaviors in nVH lesioned animals in response to α -1 AR agonist cirazoline.

Locomotor activity is widely considered an indicator of mesolimbic dopamine function. As mentioned earlier, nVH lesioned animals have consistently shown abnormal locomotor response to novely, stress and AMPH, with some conflicting data on the role of the mesolimbic dopamine system in these abnormal behaviors. Since the noradrenergic system interacts with the dopaminergic system in modulating locomotor activity, this behavior was studied in nVH lesioned animals in response to α -1 AR agonist cirazoline to investigate whether a potential hyperactive α -1 AR system in nVH lesioned animals may play a role in locomotor activity of these animals.

Sensorimotor-gating mechanisms are a fundamental component of information processing in the brain, necessary for stimulus recognition and sequential organization of behavior¹⁹¹. Prepulse inhibition (PPI), a measure of sensorimotor gating, is a phenomenon whereby a weak non-startling stimulus attenuates the startle response to a subsequent, more intense stimulus, representing normal preattentional information processing that is necessary for proper cognitive functioning. Abnormalities in PPI may indicate dysfunction of the limbic system, including the mPFC and the NAcc, and perhaps the neurotransmitter systems that regulate normal functioning of these brain regions. Since PPI is disrupted in nVH lesioned animals and α -1 ARs have been shown to modulate PPI, this behavior was studied following treatment with agonist cirazoline to investigate whether a potential hyperactive α -1 AR system in nVH lesioned animals may play a role in PPI in these animals.

Also, as an extension to the previous autoradiography study conduced in our lab, I studied whether the prefrontal cortical changes in α -1 AR in post-pubertal nVH lesioned animals may be due to alterations in the transcription of specific α -1 AR subtypes, i.e. α -1A, α -1B and α -1D AR mRNA. The region of focus in my studies was the mPFC due to its role in modulating behaviors that are abnormal in nVH lesioned animals, and the abnormalities seen in ligand binding of this receptor in this brain region.

In other words, I hypothesized that:

- nVH lesioned animals may show increased locomotor activity in response to α-1
 AR agonist cirazoline, in comparison to sham animals.
- nVH lesioned animals may show increased deficits in prepulse inhibition in response to cirazoline, in comparison to sham animals.
- nVH lesioned animals may show subtype-specific alterations in mRNA levels of α-1
 ARs in the mPFC.

IV. METHODS:

1. Animals:

Male (300-350g) and female (250-300g) Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River Laboratories, Inc. (Wilmington, MA) and housed in groups of two in a temperature- and humidity-controlled environment at the animal facility of Douglas Hospital Research Centre on a 12h light/dark cycle with free access to food and water. The animals were allowed to acclimatize to this new environment for a week, after which one male rat was placed in a cage of two female rats and allowed to mate. After fourteen days of being paired together, female rats were visually checked for protrusion of the abdomen, indicating pregnancy. Pregnant females were then housed individually and monitored for delivery. Four days after birth, litters of 8 pups, consisting of a maximum of 7 males, were culled to maintain similar litter size across dams. All animal procedures were in strict accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council for Animal Care, and the McGill University Animal Care Committee.

2. Drugs:

Ibotenic acid was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Corp. (St. Louis, MO), and dissolved in 0.1M phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) to a final concentration of 10 mg/ml. Prazosin (Sigma-Aldrich), an α -1 AR antagonist that crosses the blood-brain barrier (BBB), was dissolved in DMSO and diluted to 1.0 mg/ml in distilled water. Cirazoline, an α -1 AR agonist that crosses the BBB, was obtained from Tocris (Ellisville, MO) and dissolved in sterile isotonic (0.9%) saline to make final concentrations of 0.1, 0.3, 0.45, and 0.6 mg/ml. The injection volume for systemic

administration of prazosin and cirazoline, which readily cross the blood-brain barrier, was 1ml/kg, i.p.

3. Surgery:

nVH lesions were conducted as described by Flores, et al (1996)¹³⁷ with minor modifications. On postnatal day (PD) 7, male pups from each litter were weighed and those within 15-17g were randomly assigned a status of 'sham' or 'lesion'. Pups were anesthetized by hypothermia by placing them on wet ice for 18-20 min, and were positioned on a platform fixed to a stereotaxic Kopf instrument (Stoelting Co, IL). An incision was made on the head of the pup, and holes drilled in the skull at the area above the VH. A sterile 30-gauge stainless steel canula was inserted into the brain and positioned at: anteroposterior -3.0mm, mediolateral +/-3.5mm to bregma, and dorsolateral -5.0mm from dura. The canula released 0.3µl of either ibotenic acid (10 mg/ml, for lesion group) or vehicle (0.1M PBS, for sham group) into each VH over 2 min, and remained in place for an additional 2 min to allow the drug to diffuse into the brain. After the canula was removed, the incision was treated with antibiotic powder (Cicatrin) and the incision was sutured and placed on a heated pad for recovery, after which they were returned to their respective dams. On PD21, the males were weaned and housed in groups of two, consisting of one sham and one lesioned rat.

4. Locomotor Behaviour:

At post-pubertal age PD56, sham and lesioned animals were individually and randomly placed in one of twelve activity chambers (30 x 40 x 40 cm) housed in a

dimly lit room. Each chamber was equipped with two photoelectric switches; light beam interruptions from each chamber were monitored and stored in a computer (ACTANAL software, Concordia University). 'Locomotor activity' was measured by consecutive breaking of the two photoelectric switches in a box; breaking only one switch was considered 'other activity', and total activity was the sum of these two measures. Measurements of total activity were reported every 10 min. The animals were allowed to habituate to their environment for 60 min, after which they each received intraperitoneal (i.p) injections of saline (0.9%). Locomotor activity of each animal was tested for 60 min. Next, each animal received i.p injections of cirazoline (0.1 mg/kg), and after 5 mins, they were placed again in their respective boxes and cirazolineinduced locomotion was recorded for 60 min. This procedure was repeated after one week, with a cirazoline dose of 0.3 mg/kg, and after an additional week with 0.6 mg/kg, to test locomotor activity in response to a range of doses of cirazoline. Locomotor experiments were conducted between 9am and 3pm, during the light phase of the animals.

5. Prepulse Inhibition (PPI):

PPI of the acoustic startle response (ASR) was studied in post-pubertal animals using a commercially available system (SR-LAB; San Diego Instruments, San Diego, CA) comprised of two sound-attenuating chambers, each equipped with a cylindrical Plexiglas animal enclosure (length, 16 cm; inner diameter, 8.2 cm). A 70dB background noise was provided by a small electric fan used for ventilation. A speaker positioned 24cm directly above the enclosure provided the broadband tone pulses. A piezoelectric accelerometer affixed to the animal enclosure frame was used to detect and transduce motion resulting from the animals' startle response. Tone pulse parameters were controlled by a microcomputer using a commercial software package (SR-LAB) and interface assembly that also digitized (0-4095), rectified, and recorded stabilimeter readings.

All PPI studies were conducted between 9am and 5pm. Post-pubertal animals (PD 56-60) of both sham and lesioned groups were equally assigned one of two groups - the 'treatment' group received i.p injections of either cirazoline (0.3, 0.45 or 0.6 mg/kg), prazosin (1.0 mg/kg), or prazosin followed by cirazoline, while the 'vehicle' group was injected systemically with 0.9% saline. Saline-treated and drug-treated animals were then randomly placed in the Plexiglas enclosure and allowed to acclimatize to the environment with background noise for 5 min before being tested during 27 discrete trials. On the first two trials, the magnitude of the startle response to a 50ms duration, 120 dB tone was measured. These first two startling tones were presented to habituate the animals to the testing procedure and thus were omitted from the data analysis. On the subsequent 25 trials, the startle tone was either presented alone or 100 ms after presentation of a 30 ms duration prepulse with intensity ranging from 3 to 15 dB above background noise (73-85 dB) varied randomly between trials in 6 dB steps. ASR was measured at each of the three prepulse intensities on five trials; animals were randomly presented with the startle tone alone during the other 10 trials. The same stimulus condition was never presented on more than two consecutive trials. The interval between each trial was programmed to a variable time schedule with an average

42

duration of 15s (range, 5-30 s). A measure of ASR amplitude was derived from the mean of 100 digitized data points collected from stimulus onset at a rate of 1 kHz.

6. In situ Hybridization:

6.1. Tissue Preparation:

Animals were decapitated in a clean, dry area and their brains were quickly removed, snap-frozen in isopentane cooled on dry ice (-40°C) and stored in aluminum foil at -80°C. Using a cryostat, coronal sections (14µm thickness) at the level of the mPFC were collected on pre-cleaned, pre-coated X-tra® microscope slides (Surgipath, Winnipeg, MB) (three sections per slide) and stored at -80°C in tightly sealed boxes to prevent RNase contamination.

6.2. Oligonucleotide Probes:

Oligonucleotide probes for α -1A, α -1B, and α -1D AR mRNA were obtained from GeneDetect.com Ltd. Antisense (AS, probe) and sense (S, control) sequences for α -1A AR mRNA were 45 base pairs (bp) in length, and derived from rattus norvegicus adrenergic receptor, alpha 1a (Adra1a), mRNA at bases 36-80. Probe and control sequences for α -1B AR mRNA were also 45 base pairs (bp) in length, and derived from rattus norvegicus adrenergic receptor, alpha 1b (Adra1b), mRNA at bases 397-441. Probe and control sequences for α -1D AR mRNA were 47 base pairs (bp) in length, and derived from rattus norvegicus adrenergic receptor, alpha 1d (Adra1d), mRNA at bases 241-287. Each of the probes showed a sequence specificity of 100%. The sequences of each probe are as follows: **α-1A AS:**

```
5'GGTGCAGTTGGAGCCTTCCGAAGCATTTTCAGAGAGAAGCACCAT

α-1A control:

5'CCACGTCAACCTCGGAAGGCTTCGTAAAAGTCTCTCTTCGTGGTA

α-1B AS:

5'CCCAGTGGGCAGGTGCTGATGTGTTGTGGCCGGTGTCCAGATCGG

α-1B control:

5'GGGTCACCCGTCCACGACTACACAACACCGGCCACAGGTCTAGCC

α-1D AS:

5'GAAGGTCCCAATGGGAACGTTGGTGTGAGGGAACCGACTCCGGCGGT

α-1D control:

5'CTTCCAGGGTTACCCTTGCAACCACACTCCCTTGGCTGAGGCCGCCA
```

6.3. Preparation of Digoxigenin-labeled Oligonucleotide Probes:

Lyophilized oligonucleotide probes were reconstituted with sterile Tris-EDTA buffer to a final concentration of 10 pmol/µl. A DIG oligonucleotide 3'-end labeling kit (Roche Applied Science) was used to label the oligonucleotide probes by adding, in sequence, 4µl 5x reaction buffer (1M potassium cacodylate, 0.125M Tris-HCl, 1.25 mg/ml bovine serum albumine, pH=6.6), 4µl 25µM CoCl₂ solution, 1µl 1mM digoxigenin-ddUTP solution, 1µl terminal transferase (in 60mM K-phosphate (pH=7.2), and 150mM KCl, 1mM 2-Mercaptoethanol, 0.5% Triton X-100, 50% glycerol) to 10ul of 100 pmol oligonucleotide probe. The solutions were then mixed briefly and

44

incubated at 37°C for 15min, and placed on ice. The labeled probe was then either used immediately, or stored in a tightly sealed box at -80°C until use.

6.4. Pre-hybridization Steps:

Only sterilized apparatuses and solutions were used in this experiment. Frozen mPFC sections were immediately fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (in 0.1M phosphate buffer) at 4°C for 10-15 min, then washed three times for 5min in 0.1M phosphate buffer (NaH₂PO₄, Na₂HPO₄). Next, the sections were dehydrated for 5 min in 100% ethanol and then air dried.

Hybridization buffer (5M NaCl, 1M Tris (pH=7.5), 0.5M EDTA (pH=8.0), 100x Denhardt's solution, 10 mg/ml ssDNA, 1 mg/ml tRNA, 7% Dextran sulphate) was mixed with deionized formamide in a 1:1 ratio, and incubated at 37°C for a few minutes to reduce viscosity. The buffer was then separated into vials labeled for each sense and antisense oligonucleotide probe. 3.5μ l of the respective DIG-labeled oligonucleotide probe was added to each 1ml of hybridization buffer, and mixed thoroughly.

The slides were then placed in a humidified hybridization box, and 200µl of the respective hybridization buffer was pipetted onto each section. Parafilm was lightly placed over each section and the humidified chamber was tightly sealed and incubated overnight at 37°C.

6.5. Post-hybridization Steps:

The next day, the sections were washed thoroughly in 2x SSC (at 55°C) twice for 15min, and in 0.1x SSC (at 55°C) twice for 15min. Then, the slides were placed in blocking solution containing TBS (100mM Tris-HCl (pH=7.5), 100mM NaCl, 2mM MgCl₂) containing 1%BSA for 30min, after which they were placed face-up in the humidified hybridization box. 200µl of AP conjugated anti-DIG antibody (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN) dissolved in the above TBS/BSA solution (1:500) was added to each section and fresh parafilm was lightly placed over each section. The slides were incubated for 2h at room temperature. Next, the slides were washed thrice for 15 min with TBS (pH=7.5, without BSA), and once for 15 min with TBS (100mM Tris-HCl (pH=9.5), 150mM NaCl, 5mM Mg Cl₂) at room temperature. Then, 200µl of a staining solution containing nitro blue tetrazolium chloride and 5-bromo-4-chloro-3indolyl-phosphate, toluidine salt (NBT/BCIP, Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN) dissolved in TBS (pH=9.5) (1:50) was added to each section and incubated in the humidified box at room temperature until coloration appeared. The reaction was stopped by placing slides in sterile water for 10 min, after which the slides were air dried. The sections were then mounted with DPX permount (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), and cover slips were placed on top of each section. Labeling was analyzed using a light microscope and Nikon Eclipse 50i software (Nikon, Japan).

7. Lesion Analysis:

To check lesions, 35µm thick coronal sections at the level of the hippocampus were obtained from sham and nVH lesioned animals and treated with serial dilutions of ethanol – 2 min in 75% ethanol, 2 min in 95% ethanol, and 2 min in 100% ethanol. Next, the slides were immersed for 10 min in 0.1M phosphate buffer, followed by 3 min in 0.05% cresyl violet staining solution. The slides were then washed in serial dilutions of ethanol – 1 min in 75% ethanol, 2 min in 95% ethanol, 2 min in 100% ethanol, and 2 min in fresh 100% ethanol, after which it was immersed in xylene for a minimum of 3 min. Finally, sections were mounted with permount and cover slips were placed over each slide. Sections were analyzed using a light microscope and MCID software. Hippocampal sections that showed bilateral neuronal loss and atrophy of the VH, while sparing the dorsal hippocampus were considered as good nVH lesions. The hippocampus of sham animals was also checked for the absence of lesion.

8. Data Analysis:

For locomotion experiments, total locomotor activity of each animal was calculated by adding the total number of single beam crossings and the total number of double beam crossings. Locomotor activity was then compared between groups using two-factor repeated-measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) with treatment as a within-subjects factor, followed by *post hoc* analyses using Tukey's *t*-tests. The α level of significance was set at 0.05.

For PPI experiments, startle response was recorded for each Pulse-Alone and Pre-pulse + Pulse trial. Startle magnitude was calculated as the average of the startle responses to the Pulse-Alone trials. Prepulse effectiveness in suppressing ASR was expressed as a percentage based on the mean amplitude of responses to the startle tone alone (n = 10) relative to those recorded under the three prepulse conditions (n = 5 per condition) where:

%PPI = 100 - (<u>Startle response for Pre-pulse+Pulse trial</u>) x 100%. Startle response for Pulse-Alone trial

Startle response data was analyzed using two-factor ANOVA with status and drug as between-subjects factors. PPI data was analyzed with three-factor repeated measures ANOVA, with status and drug as between-subjects factors and prepulse intensity as within-subjects factor. Post hoc analyses were done using Tukey's *t*-tests. The α level of significance was set at 0.05.

For in situ hybridization experiments, mRNA expression was analyzed using SPOT Software 4.1 – Advanced version (Diagnostic Instruments Inc., Sterling Heights, MI). The number of cells were counted that were positively labeled for each α -1 AR subtype in the mPFC region of the left and right hemispheres of prefrontal cortical sections (corresponding to Plate 8-9 of Paxinos and Watson Rat Brain Atlas, 1986) labeled with antisense probes. Cells were considered positively labeled if their optical density was significantly greater than that of control sections (labeled with sense probes). Data from three sections per animal, and four sham and four nVH lesioned animals per subtype were used in the analysis. Results of in situ hybridization experiments were analyzed using Student's t-tests, and the means of the total number of labeled cells were compared between sham and nVH lesioned animals for each α -1 AR subtype.

V. RESULTS:

1. Lesion Verification:

Bilateral lesions of the VH were verified using Cresyl violet staining of hippocampal sections from the brains of sham and nVH lesioned animals. As depicted in Figure 1, bilateral neuronal loss, atrophy, retraction of the hippocampal formation, and sometimes cavities, were observed in the ventral hippocampus (CA1, CA2, and some of the CA3) and the ventral subiculum of nVH lesioned animals, but not of shamoperated animals. In addition, this lesion is contained within the VH and does not extend to adjacent areas such as the dorsal regions of the hippocampus, the thalamus, or the amygdala.

2. Locomotor Activity:

2.1. Locomotor Response to α-1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.1 mg/kg):

Sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 9-10) were placed individually in a locomotor box and were allowed to habituate to the environment for 60 min. Locomotor activity was monitored in both groups of animals for 60 min following systemic injections of saline, and for an additional 60 min following systemic injections of 0.1 mg/kg cirazoline, i.p (Fig. 2). Two-way repeated-measures ANOVA of the data on locomotor activity obtained during the 60 min following saline and cirazoline injections revealed no significant main effect of lesion (F(1,17)=1.839, P=0.192), drug (F(1,17)=0.095, P=0.761), or lesion x drug interaction (F(1,17)=1.132, P=0.3021).

2.2. Locomotor Response to α-1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.3 mg/kg):

One week later, the animals were again tested as described above, with 0.3 mg/kg cirazoline, i.p (Fig. 3). Two-way repeated-measures ANOVA of data on locomotor activity during the 60 min following saline and cirazoline injections revealed no significant main effect of lesion (F(1,19)=0.257, P=0.617), drug (F(1,19)=2.481, P=0.1317), or lesion x drug interaction (F(1,19)=0.008, P=0.929).

2.3. Locomotor Response to α-1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.6 mg/kg):

After another week, the animals were again tested as above, with 0.6 mg/kg cirazoline, i.p (Fig. 4). Two-way repeated-measures ANOVA of locomotor activity during the 60 min following saline and cirazoline injections revealed significant main effects of lesion (F(1,17)=5.471, P=0.031), and drug (F(1,17)=15.960, P<0.001), but no significant lesion x drug interaction (F(1,17)=0.906, P=0.354). *Post hoc* analysis revealed a significant increase in locomotor activity in nVH lesioned animals in comparison to sham animals (P=0.007), and a significant increase in locomotor activity following cirazoline treatment (P=0.001).

Thus, stimulation of α -1 AR through systemic injection of receptor agonist cirazoline increased locomotor activity in both sham and nVH lesioned animals only at high doses of 0.6 mg/kg, without any differential effect on locomotor activity of nVH lesioned animals.

REPRESENTATIVE EXAMPLE OF HIPPOCAMPAL FORMATION IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS



Α

B

Figure 1 – Lesion of the ventral hippocampus in the adult rat brain. (A) A representation of the hippocampal region of an nVH lesioned rat. The arrow points to the region of the ventral hippocampus that has been lesioned in nVH lesioned rats. (B) A representation of the hippocampal region of a sham-operated rat.

LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS FOLLOWING 0.1 MG/KG CIRAZOLINE



Figure 2 – Locomotor activity of adult sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 9) in response to saline and 0.1 mg/kg cirazoline, i.p. Two-way repeated-measures ANOVA revealed no significant main effect of lesion, drug, or lesion x drug interaction effect. S= saline, C= cirazoline.

LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS FOLLOWING 0.3 MG/KG CIRAZOLINE



Figure 3 – Locomotor activity in sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 10) in response to saline and 0.3 mg/kg cirazoline, i.p. Two-way repeated-measures ANOVA revealed no significant main effect of lesion, drug, or lesion x drug interaction effect. S= saline, C= cirazoline.

LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS FOLLOWING 0.6 MG/KG CIRAZOLINE



Figure 4 – Locomotor activity of sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 9-10) in response to saline and 0.6 mg/kg cirazoline, i.p. Two-way repeated-measures ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of lesion, and drug, but no significant lesion x drug interaction effect. *Post hoc* analyses revealed that locomotor activity in nVH lesioned animals was significantly higher than that in sham animals following saline treatment. Also, cirazoline treatment increased locomotor activity significantly in both sham and nVH lesioned animals. S= saline, C= cirazoline. * P<0.05 in comparison to Sham(S), # P<0.05 in comparison to Lesion(S).

3. Sensorimotor gating:

3.1. Effect of a-1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.3 mg/kg) on PPI:

Sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 10-12) were injected with either saline or 0.3 mg/kg cirazoline, i.p, and placed individually into the startle chamber, where startle response was measured (Fig. 5). Two-way ANOVA of startle response showed no significant main effect of lesion (F(1,37)=0.873, P=0.356), drug (F(1,37)=0.111, P=0.740), or lesion x drug interaction effect (F(1,37)=2.829, P=0.101).

Three-way ANOVA of %PPI revealed significant main effects of lesion (F(1,39)=6.48, P=0.014), drug (F(1,39)=15.93, P<0.001), and prepulse intensity (PP) (F(2,78)=59.11, P<0.001). There was also a significant interaction between lesion and PP (F(2,78)=28.409, P<0.001), but no significant lesion x drug (F(1, 39)=0.018, P=0.894), drug x PP (F(2,78)=2.335, P=0.103), or lesion x drug x PP (F(2,78)=3.050, P=0.053) interaction effect. *Post hoc* analysis revealed that nVH lesioned animals have a significantly lower PPI than sham animals at PP3 (P=0.04), PP9 (P=0.01) and PP15 (P<0.01). Also, cirazoline treatment significantly reduces PPI (P<0.01). These results show that nVH lesioned animals have a lower basal PPI than sham animals, and 0.3 mg/kg cirazoline has a small effect in decreasing PPI in both groups at some PP intensities, without a significant differential effect in either group.

3.2. Effect of a-1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.45 mg/kg) on PPI:

One week later, sham and nVH lesioned animals were injected with either saline or 0.45 mg/kg cirazoline, i.p and placed into the startle chamber (Fig. 6). Two-way ANOVA of startle response revealed no significant main effect of lesion (F(1,31)=3.432, P=0.073), drug (F(1,31)<0.001, P=0.994), or lesion x drug interaction effect (F(1,31)=2.201, P=0.148).

Three-way ANOVA of %PPI showed significant main effects of lesion (F(1,32)=71.66, P<0.001), drug (F(1,32)=39.64, P<0.001), and PP (F(2,64)=91.60, P<0.001), and a significant interaction effect of lesion x drug (F(1,32)=39.64, P<0.001). However, there was no significant lesion x PP (F(2,64)=3.109, P=0.051), drug x PP (F(2,64)=0.852, P=0.431), or lesion x drug x PP (F(2,64)=0.464, P=0.630) interaction effect. *Post hoc* analysis revealed a significant decrease in PPI in nVH lesioned animals compared to sham-lesioned animals after saline treatment (P=0.02) and cirazoline treatment (P<0.01). Interestingly, cirazoline significantly reduced PPI in nVH lesioned animals (P=0.54). These results show that 0.45 mg/kg cirazoline had a significantly greater PPI-disruptive effect on nVH lesioned animals than sham animals.

3.3. Effect of α-1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.6 mg/kg) on PPI:

The following week, sham and nVH lesioned animals received another injection of either saline or 0.6 mg/kg cirazoline, i.p and their startle response was measured (Fig.7). Two-way ANOVA of startle response revealed no significant main effect of lesion (F(1,34)=3.316, P=0.077), drug (F(1,34)=0.093, P=0.761), or lesion x drug interaction effect (F(1,34)=0.001, P=0.972).

Three-way ANOVA of %PPI showed a significant main effect of lesion (F(1, 34)=9.766, P=0.003), a significant main effect of drug (F(1, 34)=11.79, P=0.001), and a significant main effect of PP (F(2, 68)=239.13, P<0.001). There was also a significant interaction effect between lesion and PP (F(2, 68)=6.731, P=0.002), drug and PP (F(2, 68)=13.777, P<0.001), and lesion, drug and PP (F(2, 68)=12.731, P<0.001), but no significant lesion x drug interaction effect (F(1, 34)=1.86, P=0.181). *Post hoc* analysis revealed a significantly lower PPI after saline treatment in nVH lesioned animals in comparison to sham-lesioned animals at PP3 (P=0.04) and PP15 (P=0.04), a significant decrease in PPI in cirazoline-treated sham animals compared to saline-treated sham animals at PP3 (P=0.04), PP9 (P<0.01) and PP15 (P=0.03), and a significant decrease in PPI in cirazoline-treated nVH lesioned animals at PP3 (P<0.01). These results show that 0.6 mg/kg cirazoline is a high enough dose to significantly reduce PPI in both sham and nVH lesioned animals.

Therefore, high doses of cirazoline disrupts PPI in both sham and nVH lesioned animals. However, an intermediate dose of cirazoline (0.45 mg/kg, i.p) that does not significantly alter PPI in sham-operated animals substantially decreases PPI in nVH lesioned animals. This differential effect may be due to increased responsiveness of α -1 AR in nVH lesioned animals.

3.4. Blockade of the Effect of α-1 AR Agonist Cirazoline (0.45 mg/kg) on PPI by Pretreatment with α-1 AR Antagonist Prazosin (1.0 mg/kg):

In order to study whether the above differential effect of an intermediate dose of cirazoline on PPI in nVH lesioned animals was due to stimulation of α -1 AR, sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 8-12) were injected either with saline, or 1.0 mg/kg prazosin followed by 0.45 mg/kg cirazoline, and startle response was measured (Fig. 8). Two-way ANOVA of startle response showed no significant main effect of lesion (F(1,34)=2.055, P=0.160), drug (F(1,34)=0.904, P=0.348), or lesion x drug interaction effect (F(1,34)=3.578, P=0.067).

Three-way ANOVA of %PPI of sham and nVH lesioned animals showed significant main effects of lesion (F(1,31)=16.57, P<0.001) and PP (F(2,62)=67.94, P<0.001), and a significant interaction effect between lesion and PP (F(2,62)=3.218, P=0.046), but no significant main effect of drug (F(1,31)=0.002, P=0.969), or interaction effect between lesion x drug (F(1,31)=0.208, P=0.651), drug x PP (F(2,62)=0.485, P=0.617), or lesion x drug x PP (F(2,62)=1.634, P=0.203). *Post hoc* analysis revealed a significantly lower PPI in nVH lesioned animals compared to sham animals at PP3 (P=0.03), PP9 (P<0.01), and PP15 (P=0.05). However, there was no significant effect of prazosin+cirazoline treatment on PPI in either sham or nVH lesioned animals at any PP level. Thus, blockade of α -1 AR by pretreatment with prazosin blocked the PPI-disruptive effects of the intermediate dose of cirazoline in nVH lesioned animals.

3.5. Effect of a-1 AR Antagonist Prazosin (1.0 mg/kg) on PPI:

In order to study whether the disruption of PPI observed in nVH lesioned animals may be due to increased activity of α -1 AR, sham and nVH lesioned animals (*n* = 10–12) received injections of either saline or 1.0 mg/kg prazosin, and their startle response was measured (Fig. 9). Two-way ANOVA on the startle response of sham and nVH lesioned animals to the 120 dB tone showed no significant main effect of lesion (F(1,32)=0.035, P=0.851), drug (F(1,32)=3.482, P=0.071), or lesion x drug interaction effect (F(1,32)=3.632, P=0.065).

Three-way ANOVA of %PPI of sham and nVH lesioned animals showed significant main effects of drug (F(1,34)=14.77, P<0.001), and PP (F(2,68)=199.64, P<0.001), and a significant lesion x drug interaction (F(1,34)=17.02, P<0.001), but no significant main effect of status (F(1,34)=2.43, P=0.128), or interaction effects between status x PP (F(2,68)=0.699, P=0.500), drug x PP (F(2,68)=0.266, P=0.767), or lesion x drug x PP (F(2,68)=2.065, P=0.134). *Post hoc* analysis revealed a significant reduction in PPI in saline-treated nVH lesioned animals in comparison to saline-treated sham animals (P=0.04). There was also a significant increase in PPI in nVH lesioned animals that received prazosin in comparison to saline-treated nVH lesioned animals (P<0.01). However, there was no significant difference in PPI in prazosin-treated sham animals in comparison to saline-treated sham animals (P=0.78), and no significant difference in PPI between prazosin-treated sham and nVH lesioned animals (P=0.76). These results suggest that some of the PPI-disruptive effects of nVH lesions may be due to increased activity of α -1 AR.

EFFECT OF 0.3 MG/KG CIRAZOLINE ON PPI IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS



Figure 5 – Effect of systemic administration of 0.3 mg/kg cirazoline on startle response and PPI in sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 10-12). (A) Startle response – Two-way ANOVA showed no significant main effect of lesion, drug, or lesion x drug interaction effect. (B) Pre-pulse inhibition – Three-way repeated-measures ANOVA showed significant main effects of lesion, drug and prepulse intensity, but no significant lesion x drug interaction effect. The asterisk represents significant difference between groups as revealed through *post hoc* analysis. S(S)= sham-operated (saline-treated), S(C)= sham-operated (cirazoline-treated), L(S)= nVH lesioned (saline-treated), L(C)= nVH lesioned (cirazoline-treated).

EFFECT OF 0.45 MG/KG CIRAZOLINE ON PPI IN NVH LESIONED ANIMALS



Figure 6 – Effect of systemic administration of 0.45 mg/kg cirazoline on startle response and PPI in sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 9-10). (A) Startle response – Two-way ANOVA showed a trend of a main effect of lesion that did not reach significance, and no significant main effect of drug, or lesion x drug interaction effect. (B) Pre-pulse inhibition – Three-way repeated-measures ANOVA showed significant main effects of lesion, drug, prepulse intensity, and a significant lesion x drug interaction effect. The asterisk represents significant difference between groups as revealed through *post hoc* analysis. S(S)= shamoperated (saline-treated), S(C)= sham-operated (cirazoline-treated), L(S)= nVH lesioned (saline-treated), L(C)= nVH lesioned (cirazoline-treated).





Figure 7 – Effect of systemic administration of 0.6 mg/kg cirazoline on startle response and PPI in sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 8-11). (A) Startle response – Two-way ANOVA showed a trend of a main effect of lesion that did not reach significance, and no significant main effect of drug, or lesion x drug interaction effect. (B) Pre-pulse inhibition – Three-way repeated-measures ANOVA showed significant main effects of lesion, drug and prepulse intensity, but no significant lesion x drug interaction effect. The asterisk represents significant difference between groups as revealed through *post hoc* analysis. S(S)= shamoperated (saline-treated), S(C)= sham-operated (cirazoline-treated), L(S)= nVH lesioned (saline-treated), L(C)= nVH lesioned (cirazoline-treated).

BLOCKADE OF THE EFFECT OF CIRAZOLINE ON PPI WITH PRAZOSIN PRETREATMENT



Figure 8 – Effect of systemic administration of 1.0 mg/kg prazosin followed by 0.45 mg/kg cirazoline on startle response and PPI in sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 6-11). (A) Startle response – Two-way ANOVA showed no significant main effect of lesion or drug, and only a trend of a lesion x drug interaction effect that did not reach significance. (B) Pre-pulse inhibition – Three-way repeated-measures ANOVA showed significant main effects of lesion and prepulse intensity, but no significant main effect of drug or lesion x drug interaction effect. The asterisk represents significant difference between groups as revealed through *post hoc* analysis. S(S)= sham-operated (saline-treated), S(P+C)= sham-operated (prazosin+cirazoline-treated), L(S)= nVH lesioned (saline-treated), L(P+C)= nVH lesioned (prazosin+cirazoline-treated).



Figure 9 – Effect of systemic administration of 1.0 mg/kg prazosin on startle response in sham and nVH lesioned animals (n = 10-11). (A) Startle response – Two-way ANOVA showed no significant main effect of lesion, and only a trend of a main effect of drug and lesion x drug interaction effect that did not reach significance. (B) Pre-pulse inhibition – Three-way repeated-measures ANOVA showed no significant main effect of lesion, but significant main effects of drug and prepulse intensity, and a significant lesion x drug interaction effect. The asterisk represents significant difference between groups as revealed through *post hoc* analysis. S(S)= sham-operated (saline-treated), S(P)= sham-operated (prazosin-treated), L(S)= nVH lesioned (saline-treated), L(P)= nVH lesioned (prazosin-treated).

4. In situ Hybridization:

Prefrontal cortical sections of sham and nVH lesioned animals were hybridized with digoxigenin-labeled oligonucleotide probes specific for α -1A, α -1B or α -1D AR mRNA. Three sections from each animal (i.e. 16 sections total) were hybridized with each subtype-specific probe, and the mPFC region from left and right hemispheres were analyzed for positively-labeled cells. Statistical analysis using unpaired, two-tailed student's *t*-test showed a significant difference in the number of cells labeled for α -1A (P<0.01) and α -1D (P=0.04), but not for α -1B (P=0.57), adrenergic receptor mRNA between sham and nVH lesioned animals, where the mPFC of nVH lesioned animals showed a significantly higher number of cells positively labeled for α -1A AR mRNA and a significantly lower number of cells labeled for α -1D AR mRNA compared to that of sham animals.

EXPRESSION OF α-1A, α-1B AND α-1D ADRENERGIC RECEPTOR MRNA IN MPFC OF NVH LESIONED ANIMALS







Figure 10 – In situ hybridization using DIG-labeled oligonucleotide probes for α -1A, α -1B and α -1D mRNA. (A) Schematic representation of a prefrontal cortical slice from a rat brain. The grey area represents the region of the mPFC within which DIG-labeled cells were analyzed. (B, D, F) Representative example of a 0.25 mm² mPFC region labeled with sense oligonucleotide probe for α -1A AR mRNA (B), α -1B AR mRNA (D), and α -1D AR mRNA (F) under 20x magnification. Sections hybridized with antisense probe were compared to sections hybridized with the respective sense probe when counting number of cells labeled. (C, E, G) Representative example of a 0.25 mm² mPFC region labeled of a 0.25 mm² mPFC region labeled with antisense probe when counting number of cells labeled. (C, E, G) Representative example of a 0.25 mm² mPFC region labeled with antisense oligonucleotide probe for α -1A AR mRNA (C), α -1B AR mRNA (E), and α -1D AR mRNA (G) under 20x magnification. The larger purple dots represent cells expressing mRNA for the respective α -1 AR subtype.





Figure 11 – Comparison of the number of cells positively labeled for mRNA for α -1 AR subtypes in the mPFC of sham and nVH lesioned rats (n = 4). (A) α -1A AR mRNA – nVH lesioned animals show a significantly higher number of mPFC cells labeled for α -1A AR mRNA compared to sham animals. (B) α -1B AR mRNA – There is no significant difference in the number of cells labeled for α -1B AR mRNA – There is no significant difference in the number of cells labeled for α -1B AR mRNA – nVH lesioned animals show a significantly lower number of mPFC cells labeled for α -1D AR mRNA – nVH lesioned animals show a significantly lower number of mPFC cells labeled for α -1D AR mRNA compared to sham animals. * P < 0.05

VI. DISCUSSION:

Experimental observations made with the neonatal ventral hippocampus lesion rat model strengthens the hypothesis that insult to the ventral hippocampus in rats, which corresponds to the anterior hippocampus in humans, during a critical period of early brain development leads to neurodevelopmental aberrations and delayed emergence of abnormal behaviors similar to some symptoms of schizophrenia. Due to the robust parallels in molecular and behavioral abnormalities seen in nVH lesioned animals and patients with schizophrenia, this model was used to further investigate potential abnormalities in schizophrenia.

The functional role of α -1 adrenergic receptors and its subtypes in the central nervous system is largely unknown, although these receptors vastly populate the brain¹⁹²⁻¹⁹⁵. This is mainly due to the inability of receptor-specific agonist and antagonist drugs to cross the blood-brain barrier. However, studies using intracranial injections of α -1 AR agonists and antagonists have revealed an important role of this receptor family in motor activity, cognitive function^{180-182, 185, 196}, and response to psychostimulants^{169, 197, 198}, many of which are abnormal in nVH lesioned animals.

Previous studies conducted in our lab showed an increase in ligand binding of α -1 adrenergic receptors in the prefrontal cortex of post-pubertal nVH lesioned animals¹⁹⁰. As an extension to this study, I investigated the hypothesis that nVH lesions may lead to post-pubertal hyper-responsiveness of α -1 AR, and subtype-specific alterations in the transcription of α -1 AR in the medial PFC, a brain region that has been shown to play an important role in modulating some of the behaviors that are abnormal in nVH lesioned animals. Previous studies have shown that stimulation of α -1 AR leads to increased locomotor activity^{199, 200} as well as deficits in PPI¹⁸⁵. Therefore, in order to test for potential hypersensitivity of α -1 AR in nVH lesioned animals, the effect of α -1 AR agonist, cirazoline, on locomotor behavior and sensorimotor gating in sham and nVH lesioned animals was tested. Also, potential alterations in transcription of α -1 AR in the mPFC of nVH lesioned animals was studied using in situ hybridization with digoxigenin-labeled oligonucleotide probes specific for mRNA of α -1 AR subtypes - α -1A, α -1B and α -1D.

1. Abnormal Function of α-1 AR in nVH Lesioned Animals May Not Affect Locomotor Activity:

Systemic injections of lower doses of cirazoline (0.1 and 0.3 mg/kg) did not alter locomotor behavior in either sham or nVH lesioned animals, but higher doses of cirazoline (0.6 mg/kg) increased locomotor activity in both groups, with no differential response of nVH lesioned animals to the drug. These results do not support our hypothesis, and suggest that although a high level of stimulation of α -1 AR influences locomotor activity, the α -1 ARs that enable locomotor activity may not be hyperresponsive in nVH lesioned animals.

Research on the brain regions where α -1 AR mediate behavioral activation has shown that terazosin, an α -1 AR antagonist, induces immobility when injected into the LC and NAcc, but does not affect behavior when injected into the PFC, VTA, and amygdala²⁰¹. These results were surprising as the PFC, VTA and amygdala contain many α -1 AR, and have been known to play a role in locomotion in response to specific stimuli such as psychostimulants and stress²⁰²⁻²⁰⁷. However, the inability of terazosin to induce immobility when infused into these brain regions suggests that α -1 AR in these particular brain regions may not be involved in enabling locomotor activation, per se, but may play a role in regulating locomotor response to other stimuli. Previous research from our lab has revealed that nVH lesioned animals show increased ligand binding of α -1 AR in the PFC, but not in the NAcc, and a dysfunction in α -1 AR regulation of AMPH-induced hyperlocomotion¹⁹⁰. These results, along with the above behavioral data, suggest that in nVH lesioned animals, α -1 AR involved in locomotor stimulation, such as those in the NAcc, may not be altered, but those receptors involved in modulation of the locomotor response to AMPH, such as in the mPFC, may be abnormal. Future studies may test this hypothesis through intracerebral injection of α -1 AR agonists and antagonists into the mPFC and NAcc of nVH lesioned animals to study any aberrations in the role of these receptors in locomotor activation and the locomotor response to AMPH.

In naïve animals, α -1 AR play an important role in modulation of the mesoaccumbal dopamine response and locomotor response to psychostimulants. Studies have shown that AMPH injections into the mPFC releases DA which, through activation of D1 dopamine receptors, inhibits the locomotor-enhancing effect of AMPH in the NAcc²⁰⁸. However, AMPH also releases NA which stimulates α -1 AR in the mPFC that inhibit D1 receptor transmission²⁰⁹ and, in turn, disinhibits mPFC pyramidal

neurons. Systemic administration of AMPH leads to activation of metabotropic glutamatergic receptors in the NAcc, perhaps via glutamatergic projections from the mPFC to the NAcc, which leads to an increase in the release of 'functional' DA in the NAcc that is associated with the observed increase in locomotor activity²¹⁰. Studies have revealed a hyperexcitability of mPFC neurons in nVH lesioned animals in response to VTA stimulation¹⁴⁵, representing the abnormal response of these cortical neurons to psychostimulant effects. nVH lesioned animals also show increased levels of mPFC¹⁹⁰, which the may AR in be responsible α -1 for increased disinhibition/excitability of these neurons and perhaps some of the abnormal behaviors observed in these animals in response to psychostimulants.

An alternative interpretation of our results on locomotor activity may be that the doses of cirazoline used in this study were insufficient to capture any locomotor abnormalities in nVH lesioned animals. A previous study on the locomotor effects of cirazoline showed that a dose of 0.05 mg/kg significantly reduced locomotor activity in rats and this effect waned at higher doses of 0.1, 0.2 and 0.4 mg/kg²¹¹. In the present study, 0.1 mg/kg cirazoline showed a slight, albeit insignificant, decrease in locomotor activity in both sham and nVH lesioned animals. Perhaps, a more extensive dose-response study investigating locomotor activity in nVH lesioned animals in response to cirazoline at doses between 0-0.1 mg/kg may reveal a differential effect of cirazoline on locomotion in nVH lesioned animals.
Another possibility is that lower doses of cirazoline, such as 0.1 and 0.3 mg/kg, stimulate α -1 AR but do not affect locomotor behavior in rats, while higher doses of cirazoline, such as 0.6 mg/kg, may also activate other non-adrenergic receptors that may influence locomotor behavior. Cirazoline is an imidazoline ligand that has a high affinity for α -1 ARs, but also has lower affinity for other receptors with imidazoline binding sites²¹². Imidazoline binding sites are found in the striatum that, upon activation, enhance locomotor activity in rats²¹³. It is possible that high doses of cirazoline activate non- α -1 AR imidazoline binding sites that modulate locomotion, but that are normal in nVH lesioned animals, thus, revealing no abnormality in locomotor responsiveness of nVH lesioned animals to cirazoline.

2. Abnormal α-1 AR in nVH Lesioned Animals may be Responsible for Sensorimotor Gating Deficits:

 α -1 AR not only modulate locomotor activity, but also play an important role in sensorimotor gating. In order to further investigate whether nVH lesioned animals show hyperactive α -1 AR, we studied the effect of various doses of cirazoline on PPI in sham and nVH lesioned rats. Three doses of cirazoline were used in this study – 0.3, 0.45 and 0.6 mg/kg, i.p. – based on the doses used in previous PPI studies using cirazoline, where doses between 0.5 and 0.75 mg/kg formed the threshold for disruption of PPI in naïve animals¹⁸⁵. Our results showed that a low dose of 0.3 mg/kg cirazoline reduced PPI in both sham and nVH lesioned animals at the lowest prepulse (PP) intensity. There was also a significant reduction in PPI in nVH lesioned animals at the highest PP value. However, statistical analysis did not reveal any significant differential effect of this

dose of cirazoline on PPI in nVH lesioned animals. Our results also showed that an intermediate dose of cirazoline (0.45 mg/kg) substantially reduced PPI in nVH lesioned animals, with little or no effect on sham animals. This enhanced effect of a moderate dose of cirazoline on PPI in nVH lesioned animals was reversed by pretreatment with prazosin, suggesting that this differential effect was due to hyperresponsiveness of α -1 ARs in nVH lesioned animals. Treatment with prazosin itself significantly increased PPI in nVH lesioned animals at some PP values, without a significant effect on PPI in sham animals. Similar to results of previous sensorimotor gating studies¹⁸⁵, 0.6 mg/kg cirazoline significantly decreased PPI in sham animals. Surprisingly, in nVH lesioned animals, this dose of cirazoline decreased PPI, but to a much smaller extent than seen with the 0.45 mg/kg dose. Although it may seem contradictory to what was expected, this could be due to several reasons. It is possible that cirazoline may have a U-shaped dose-response curve as reported in behavioral studies on cognitive functions such as spatial working memory (SWM), where low doses of cirazoline impaired SWM while increasing doses had no effect and even improved SWM¹⁸¹. Also, the dose-response characteristic of cirazoline may be due to its binding properties. Cirazoline is an imidazoline that is a potent α -1 adrenergic receptor agonist, but also has some affinity for α -2 adrenergic receptors containing an imidazoline binding site. Therefore, low doses of cirazoline may bind to α -1 adrenergic receptor, whereas higher doses may also bind to imidazoline/ α -2 adrenergic receptors. In support of this possibility, the impairment of SWM in the above mentioned study by lower doses of cirazoline was blocked by pretreatment with prazosin, whereas the enhancement of SWM by higher doses of cirazoline was not blocked by prazosin but by idazoxan, an imidazoline/ α -2

adrenergic receptor antagonist. Overall, these data suggest that disruption of the VH early in life may lead to hyperactivity of α -1 adrenergic receptors that may be responsible for some of the sensorimotor gating deficits observed in these animals.

Our study shows that 0.3 mg/kg cirazoline enhanced startle magnitude in sham, but not nVH lesioned, animals. However, 0.45 mg/kg and 0.6 mg/kg cirazoline did not have any significant effect on startle magnitude in either group of animals. Studies have shown that similar doses of cirazoline did not significantly alter startle magnitude in rats, although other studies using different α -1 adrenergic receptor agonists such as phenylephrine showed conflicting results^{185, 214}. Also, prazosin reduced startle magnitude in both sham and nVH lesioned animals to similar extents, although it had a differential effect on PPI of nVH lesioned animals. Although the role of α -1 adrenergic receptors on startle magnitude is currently unclear, it should be noted that the effect of these receptors on PPI have been shown to be independent of its effect on startle magnitude¹⁸⁵.

The PPI pathway is modulated by the limbic cortex that involves the mPFC, hippocampus and amygdala, as well as the nucleus accumbens²¹⁵. However, the specific role of each brain region in PPI is not yet well known. VH lesions in adult rats do not affect basal levels of PPI but enhance PPI deficits induced by apomorphine, a DA receptor agonist²¹⁶. On the other hand, nVH lesioned rats show post-pubertal deficits in basal levels of PPI²¹⁷, as well as an increased sensitivity to the PPI-disruptive effects of apomorphine²¹⁸. These studies imply an important role of the VH in regulation of the

dopamine pathway involved in PPI, and the development of other PPI regulatory brain sites. The mPFC is one such region that receives afferents from the hippocampus, and its development is thought to be affected by nVH lesions. It has been proposed that reduced dopaminergic tone and increased noradrenergic tone in the mPFC may disrupt PPI through disinhibition of descending glutamatergic projections and an increase in dopamine transmission in the NAcc. Reduction of dopaminergic tone through 6-OHDA lesions in the mPFC of naïve rats has been shown to reduce PPI, an effect that is reversed by haloperidol²¹⁹⁻²²¹. Also, studies on naïve human subjects have shown that blockade of NA reuptake using desipramine as well as blockade of DA receptors using haloperidol disrupt PPI, without any additive effects when both drugs were combined²²². This suggests that the noradrenergic system and the dopaminergic system interact to modulate PPI most probably at the level of the mPFC where extracellular DA levels modulate NA levels and vice versa. Interestingly, the novel atypical antipsychotic drug iloperidone, that has a high affinity for α -1 ARs and acts as a dopamine/serotonin/norepinephrine antagonist, has been shown to prevent cirazolineinduced PPI deficits, suggesting that increased activity of α -1 ARs may play a role in sensorimotor gating deficits in patients with schizophrenia²²³. nVH lesioned animals show decreased DA release in the mPFC in response to stress²²⁴ and increased excitability of PFC neurons in response to VTA stimulation¹⁴⁵ that has been shown to be responsible for the increased response of the NAcc to mesolimbic activation¹⁴⁷. In addition, nVH lesioned animals display increased ligand binding of α -1 AR in the prefrontal cortex¹⁹⁰. a-1 AR have been shown to induce excitatory currents in PFC neurons²²⁵, suggesting that increased number or sensitivity of these receptors, along

76

with decreased DA transmission, may lead to disinhibition of PFC neurons, and perhaps some of the PPI deficits seen in these animals. It would be interesting to confirm whether the hyperresponsiveness of α -1 ARs observed in nVH lesioned animals can also be found at the level of the mPFC, and if these receptors play a role in the sensorimotor gating deficits observed in these animals.

3. Subtype-Specific Alterations of α-1 AR mRNA in mPFC of nVH Lesioned Animals:

In order to investigate whether the observed increase in number and/or affinity of α -1 ARs in the PFC of nVH lesioned animals is due to abnormal mRNA expression of specific subtypes of this receptor, we conducted in situ hybridization experiments on prefrontal cortical sections of sham and nVH lesioned animals using DIG-labeled oligonucleotide probes for α -1A, α -1B and α -1D mRNA. Our results indicate that the mPFC of nVH lesioned rats show a significantly higher number of cells positively labeled for α -1A AR mRNA, and a significantly lower number of cells positively labeled for α -1D AR mRNA, with no significant difference in the number of cells labeled for α -1B AR mRNA. These results suggest that nVH lesions lead to abnormal transcription of specific α -1 AR subtypes in regions of the adult mPFC.

Unfortunately, because of the technique used to label the oligonucleotide probes, only semi-quantitative analysis of these results could be performed. Therefore, it remains unknown whether nVH lesioned animals show changes in expression of α -1 AR subtypes *within* each cell. One method of detecting variation in receptor expression within a cell would be through in situ hybridization experiments using $[^{35}S]$ -labeled probes. However, this method proved to be difficult using the commercially available oligonucleotide probes. Perhaps radioactive-labeled ribonucleotide probes may be more efficient at detecting α -1 AR subtypes within the brain, while allowing a more quantitative analysis of changes in levels of expression. Immunohistochemistry studies on the expression of α -1A AR in the mouse brain have shown expression of this receptor subtype in neuronal cells, including NR1 NMDA receptor-containing neurons and GABAergic neurons of the cerebral cortex²²⁶. One interesting observation from our in situ studies is that the labeling for α -1A AR mRNA seemed to have a different shape and size compared to the labeling for α -1D AR mRNA, where α -1A AR mRNA labeling was larger and rounder than α-1D AR mRNA labeling which was much smaller and sometimes observed as small spots. It is possible that these AR subtypes are expressed in different types of neurons in the mPFC, or perhaps in very different quantities within the cell. Future studies using dual-labeled in situ hybridization can investigate the specific types of cells in the mPFC of nVH lesioned animals that show altered expression of a-1 AR subtypes, and perhaps PCR studies may provide better quantitative results of any differences in each subtype in the mPFC of sham and nVH lesioned animals.

The distribution of α -1 AR subtypes in the brain is not yet well known due to lack of commercially available subtype-specific antibodies. In situ hybridization studies on the distribution of mRNA of α -1 AR subtypes in the rat brain reveal that, unlike in the periphery where different tissues express different α -1 AR subtypes, central α -1 AR subtypes may be co-localized in most tissues^{192, 193, 227}. In the cerebral cortex, although mRNA for all α -1 AR subtypes are expressed, each subtype has a different pattern of expression in the different layers of the cortex. For example, mRNA for α -1A AR can be detected at high levels in the cerebral cortex, with highest labeling in layers II-III, lowest labeling in layer IV, moderate labeling in layers V and VI, and no labeling in layer I. α -1D AR mRNA can be detected at high levels in most areas of the cerebral cortex, mainly in layers V and VI, with lower labeling in layer II and III, very few cells labeled in layer IV, and little or no labeling in layer I. mRNA for α -1B AR are also found in the cerebral cortex, but not as abundant as those for α -1A and α -1D AR. The strongest labeling for α -1B AR mRNA is found in layers V and VI, with lighter labeling in layer I.

The distinct pattern of expression of α -1 AR subtypes observed in the cerebral cortex suggests different functions of each receptor subtype. A few genetic studies have been conducted using mice mutant in specific α -1 AR subtypes, giving some idea of a role of each subtype in the brain. For example, knockout mice for the gene encoding α -1b AR show decreased sensitivity to locomotor-enhancing effects of AMPH, cocaine and morphine, as well as decreased rewarding effects of these drugs¹⁹⁸. However, knockout mice for the gene encoding α -1d AR show decreased locomotor response to AMPH, but not cocaine, with no change in the rewarding effect of these drugs¹⁹⁷. Moreover, stimulation of α -1b AR amplifies dopamine-mediated locomotion in rats and mice²²⁸. Although it is tempting to associate results from knockout studies with behaviors of nVH lesioned animals, it must be noted that knocking out a specific

receptor subtype genetically may lead to compensatory changes in other receptor subtypes, confounding the results observed in such experiments. However, these studies demonstrate that α -1 AR subtypes may have distinct functions in locomotor-enhancing and rewarding properties of specific psychostimulants.

In vitro studies on cortical neurons have shown that expression of α -1 ARs is regulated by neuronal excitability, where increased neuronal activity increases the expression of α -1 ARs²²⁹. Stimulation of α -1 ARs in the mPFC leads to release of serotonin²³⁰ which may act on 5-HT2A receptors, and activation of these two types of receptors can induce excitatory postsynaptic currents in pyramidal neurons of the mPFC²³¹. Converging evidence point to a hyperexcitable state of PFC neurons in nVH lesioned animals^{142, 145}, and it is possible that this increased cortical activity may be related to the increased expression of α -1A AR mRNA seen in these animals. This increase in cortical activity may either be a cause of the observed increased expression, where increased neuronal activity results in increased α -1A AR expression, or an effect of the increased α -1A AR expression, where low amounts of stress leads to increased activation of α -1A AR which, in turn, increases the activity of mPFC pyramidal neurons. In vitro studies on the cellular expression profiles of α -1 AR subtypes have shown that α -1A ARs in human embryonic kidney cells are expressed on the cell surface as well as intracellularly in a perinuclear orientation, while a-1D ARs are mainly expressed intracellularly²³². Other studies on mouse neuroblastoma cells have shown that α -1D ARs are translocated to the cell surface when its long N-terminal tail is truncated, when it contains a signal peptide sequence on its N-terminus, when it

dimerizes with membrane-bound α -1B ARs, and when it is incubated with prazosin²³³. The externalization of α -1D AR following incubation with prazosin led to the suggestion that these receptors may be constitutively active, leading to their downregulation and internalization. Although expression profiles of these subtypes may be different in the postpubertal rat brain, one possibility is that nVH lesioned animals show increased activity of prefrontal cortical α -1 ARs, in particular α -1A ARs, which may lead to internalization of α -1D ARs and the observed downregulation of its mRNA expression. Furthermore, increased expression of α -1A AR seen in the mPFC of nVH lesioned animals may be, in part, responsible for the increased sensitivity of α -1 ARs that play a role in sensorimotor gating deficits in these animals. In fact, one study has shown an association of polymorphisms in the promoter region of the gene encoding α -1A ARs with schizophrenia in a Spanish isolate population²³⁴, suggesting that alterations in the transcription of this receptor subtype may indeed play a role in some of the abnormalities seen in schizophrenia.

VII. CONCLUSION:

The results of my work suggest that post-pubertal nVH lesioned animals show increased sensitivity of α -1 ARs that modulate certain behaviors such as sensorimotor gating, but not locomotor activity. This increase in sensitivity may be related to the changes seen in the expression of specific subtypes of α -1 ARs, i.e. the increased expression of α -1A AR mRNA and decreased expression of α -1D AR mRNA, in the mPFC of these animals. Therefore, a disruption of the hippocampus early in neurodevelopment leads to hyper-responsiveness of α -1 ARs, and subtype-specific abnormalities in the transcription of these receptor genes in the mPFC, which are, at least partly, responsible for certain behavioral abnormalities similar to those seen in patients with schizophrenia.

VIII. REFERENCES:

- (1) Bleuler E. Dementia praecox or the group of schizophrenias. New York, NY: International Universities Press, 1950
- (2) Jablensky A. Epidemiology of schizophrenia: the global burden of disease and disability. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2000;250(6):274-285.
- (3) Wong AH, Van Tol HH. Schizophrenia: from phenomenology to neurobiology. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 2003 May;27(3):269-306.
- (4) Kraepelin E. Dementia Praecox and Paraphrenia. Livingstone, Edinburgh: 1919
- (5) Kendler KS, Diehl SR. The genetics of schizophrenia: a current, geneticepidemiologic perspective. *Schizophr Bull* 1993;19(2):261-285.
- (6) McGuffin P, Farmer AE, Gottesman II, Murray RM, Reveley AM. Twin concordance for operationally defined schizophrenia. Confirmation of familiality and heritability. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1984 June;41(6):541-545.
- (7) McGuffin P, Asherson P, Owen M, Farmer A. The strength of the genetic effect. Is there room for an environmental influence in the aetiology of schizophrenia? *Br J Psychiatry* 1994 May;164(5):593-599.
- (8) Tienari P. Interaction between genetic vulnerability and family environment: the Finnish adoptive family study of schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 1991 November;84(5):460-465.
- (9) Seeman P. Dopamine receptors and the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia. *Synapse* 1987;1(2):133-152.
- (10) van Rossum JM. The significance of dopamine-receptor blockade for the mechanism of action of neuroleptic drugs. *Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther* 1966 April;160(2):492-494.
- (11) Cesarec Z, Eberhard G, Nordgren L. A controlled study of the antipsychotic and sedative effects of neuroleptic drugs and amphetamine in chronic schizophrenics. A clinical and experimental-psychological study. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl* 1974;249:65-77.
- (12) Breier A, Su TP, Saunders R, Carson RE, Kolachana BS, de BA, Weinberger DR, Weisenfeld N, Malhotra AK, Eckelman WC, Pickar D. Schizophrenia is associated with elevated amphetamine-induced synaptic dopamine concentrations: evidence from a novel positron emission tomography method. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1997 March 18;94(6):2569-2574.

- (13) Laruelle M, bi-Dargham A, van Dyck CH, Gil R, D'Souza CD, Erdos J, McCance E, Rosenblatt W, Fingado C, Zoghbi SS, Baldwin RM, Seibyl JP, Krystal JH, Charney DS, Innis RB. Single photon emission computerized tomography imaging of amphetamine-induced dopamine release in drug-free schizophrenic subjects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996 August 20;93(17):9235-9240.
- (14) Weinberger DR, Berman KF, Daniel DG. Mesoprefrontal cortical dopaminergic activity and prefrontal hypofunction in schizophrenia. *Clin Neuropharmacol* 1992;15 Suppl 1 Pt A:568A-569A.
- (15) Braver TS, Barch DM, Cohen JD. Cognition and control in schizophrenia: a computational model of dopamine and prefrontal function. *Biol Psychiatry* 1999 August 1;46(3):312-328.
- (16) Bilder RM. Neurocognitive impairment in schizophrenia and how it affects treatment options. *Can J Psychiatry* 1997 April;42(3):255-264.
- (17) Kane J, Honigfeld G, Singer J, Meltzer H. Clozapine for the treatmentresistant schizophrenic. A double-blind comparison with chlorpromazine. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1988 September;45(9):789-796.
- (18) Van Tol HH, Bunzow JR, Guan HC, Sunahara RK, Seeman P, Niznik HB, Civelli O. Cloning of the gene for a human dopamine D4 receptor with high affinity for the antipsychotic clozapine. *Nature* 1991 April 18;350(6319):610-614.
- (19) Brooks KM, Cai J, Sandrasagra A, Roehr JE, Errazo R, Vargas HM. Interaction of clozapine and other antipsychotic drugs with human alpha 1adrenergic receptor subtypes. *Proc West Pharmacol Soc* 1999;42:67-69.
- Bengtsson HJ, Kullberg A, Millan MJ, Hjorth S. The role of 5-HT1A autoreceptors and alpha1-adrenoceptors in the modulation of 5-HT release-III. Clozapine and the novel putative antipsychotic S 16924. *Neuropharmacology* 1998;37(3):349-356.
- (21) Kelley BM, Porter JH. The role of muscarinic cholinergic receptors in the discriminative stimulus properties of clozapine in rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 1997 August;57(4):707-719.
- (22) Kane J, Honigfeld G, Singer J, Meltzer H. Clozapine for the treatmentresistant schizophrenic. A double-blind comparison with chlorpromazine. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1988 September;45(9):789-796.
- (23) Zhao J, He X, Liu Z, Yang D. The effects of clozapine on cognitive function and regional cerebral blood flow in the negative symptom profile schizophrenia. *Int J Psychiatry Med* 2006;36(2):171-181.

- (24) Lahti AC, Holcomb HH, Medoff DR, Tamminga CA. Ketamine activates psychosis and alters limbic blood flow in schizophrenia. *Neuroreport* 1995 April 19;6(6):869-872.
- (25) Javitt DC. Negative schizophrenic symptomatology and the PCP (phencyclidine) model of schizophrenia. *Hillside J Clin Psychiatry* 1987;9(1):12-35.
- (26) Itil T, Keskiner A, Kiremitci N, Holden JM. Effect of phencyclidine in chronic schizophrenics. *Can Psychiatr Assoc J* 1967 April;12(2):209-212.
- (27) COHEN BD, ROSENBAUM G, LUBY ED, GOTTLIEB JS. Comparison of phencyclidine hydrochloride (Sernyl) with other drugs. Simulation of schizophrenic performance with phencyclidine hydrochloride (Sernyl), lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD-25), and amobarbital (Amytal) sodium; II. Symbolic and sequential thinking. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1962 May;6:395-401.
- (28) Svensson TH. Dysfunctional brain dopamine systems induced by psychotomimetic NMDA-receptor antagonists and the effects of antipsychotic drugs. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* 2000 March;31(2-3):320-329.
- (29) Wittmann M, Marino MJ, Henze DA, Seabrook GR, Conn PJ. Clozapine potentiation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor currents in the nucleus accumbens: role of NR2B and protein kinase A/Src kinases. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2005 May;313(2):594-603.
- (30) Harrison PJ, Law AJ, Eastwood SL. Glutamate receptors and transporters in the hippocampus in schizophrenia. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2003 November;1003:94-101.
- (31) Dean B, Scarr E, Bradbury R, Copolov D. Decreased hippocampal (CA3) NMDA receptors in schizophrenia. *Synapse* 1999 April;32(1):67-69.
- (32) Harrison PJ, McLaughlin D, Kerwin RW. Decreased hippocampal expression of a glutamate receptor gene in schizophrenia. *Lancet* 1991 February 23;337(8739):450-452.
- (33) Tamminga CA. Schizophrenia and glutamatergic transmission. *Crit Rev Neurobiol* 1998;12(1-2):21-36.
- (34) Weinberger DR. From neuropathology to neurodevelopment. *Lancet* 1995 August 26;346(8974):552-557.
- (35) Benes FM, McSparren J, Bird ED, SanGiovanni JP, Vincent SL. Deficits in small interneurons in prefrontal and cingulate cortices of schizophrenic and schizoaffective patients. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1991 November;48(11):996-1001.

- (36) Jakob H, Beckmann H. Prenatal developmental disturbances in the limbic allocortex in schizophrenics. *J Neural Transm* 1986;65(3-4):303-326.
- (37) Whitworth AB, Honeder M, Kremser C, Kemmler G, Felber S, Hausmann A, Wanko C, Wechdorn H, Aichner F, Stuppaeck CH, Fleischhacker WW. Hippocampal volume reduction in male schizophrenic patients. *Schizophr Res* 1998 May 25;31(2-3):73-81.
- (38) Nelson MD, Saykin AJ, Flashman LA, Riordan HJ. Hippocampal volume reduction in schizophrenia as assessed by magnetic resonance imaging: a meta-analytic study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1998 May;55(5):433-440.
- (39) Gaser C, Nenadic I, Buchsbaum BR, Hazlett EA, Buchsbaum MS. Ventricular enlargement in schizophrenia related to volume reduction of the thalamus, striatum, and superior temporal cortex. *Am J Psychiatry* 2004 January;161(1):154-156.
- (40) Buchsbaum MS, Yang S, Hazlett E, Siegel BV, Jr., Germans M, Haznedar M, O'Flaithbheartaigh S, Wei T, Silverman J, Siever LJ. Ventricular volume and asymmetry in schizotypal personality disorder and schizophrenia assessed with magnetic resonance imaging. *Schizophr Res* 1997 October 17;27(1):45-53.
- (41) Wood SJ, Velakoulis D, Smith DJ, Bond D, Stuart GW, McGorry PD, Brewer WJ, Bridle N, Eritaia J, Desmond P, Singh B, Copolov D, Pantelis C. A longitudinal study of hippocampal volume in first episode psychosis and chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* 2001 October 1;52(1-2):37-46.
- (42) Velakoulis D, Pantelis C, McGorry PD, Dudgeon P, Brewer W, Cook M, Desmond P, Bridle N, Tierney P, Murrie V, Singh B, Copolov D. Hippocampal volume in first-episode psychoses and chronic schizophrenia: a high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1999 February;56(2):133-141.
- (43) Roberts GW, Colter N, Lofthouse R, Johnstone EC, Crow TJ. Is there gliosis in schizophrenia? Investigation of the temporal lobe. *Biol Psychiatry* 1987 December;22(12):1459-1468.
- (44) Rajkowska G, Selemon LD, Goldman-Rakic PS. Neuronal and glial somal size in the prefrontal cortex: a postmortem morphometric study of schizophrenia and Huntington disease. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1998 March;55(3):215-224.
- (45) Sporn AL, Greenstein DK, Gogtay N, Jeffries NO, Lenane M, Gochman P, Clasen LS, Blumenthal J, Giedd JN, Rapoport JL. Progressive brain volume loss during adolescence in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* 2003 December;160(12):2181-2189.

- (46) Mathalon DH, Sullivan EV, Lim KO, Pfefferbaum A. Progressive brain volume changes and the clinical course of schizophrenia in men: a longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2001 February;58(2):148-157.
- (47) Jacobsen LK, Giedd JN, Castellanos FX, Vaituzis AC, Hamburger SD, Kumra S, Lenane MC, Rapoport JL. Progressive reduction of temporal lobe structures in childhood-onset schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* 1998 May;155(5):678-685.
- (48) Rapoport JL, Giedd J, Kumra S, Jacobsen L, Smith A, Lee P, Nelson J, Hamburger S. Childhood-onset schizophrenia. Progressive ventricular change during adolescence. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1997 October;54(10):897-903.
- (49) Stefansson H, Sigurdsson E, Steinthorsdottir V, Bjornsdottir S, Sigmundsson T, Ghosh S, Brynjolfsson J, Gunnarsdottir S, Ivarsson O, Chou TT, Hjaltason O, Birgisdottir B, Jonsson H, Gudnadottir VG, Gudmundsdottir E, Bjornsson A, Ingvarsson B, Ingason A, Sigfusson S, Hardardottir H, Harvey RP, Lai D, Zhou M, Brunner D, Mutel V, Gonzalo A, Lemke G, Sainz J, Johannesson G, Andresson T, Gudbjartsson D, Manolescu A, Frigge ML, Gurney ME, Kong A, Gulcher JR, Petursson H, Stefansson K. Neuregulin 1 and susceptibility to schizophrenia. *Am J Hum Genet* 2002 October;71(4):877-892.
- (50) Stefansson H, Sarginson J, Kong A, Yates P, Steinthorsdottir V, Gudfinnsson E, Gunnarsdottir S, Walker N, Petursson H, Crombie C, Ingason A, Gulcher JR, Stefansson K, St CD. Association of neuregulin 1 with schizophrenia confirmed in a Scottish population. *Am J Hum Genet* 2003 January;72(1):83-87.
- (51) Tosato S, Ruggeri M, Bonetto C, Bertani M, Marrella G, Lasalvia A, Cristofalo D, Aprili G, Tansella M, Dazzan P, Diforti M, Murray RM, Collier DA. Association study of dysbindin gene with clinical and outcome measures in a representative cohort of Italian schizophrenic patients. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 2007 July 5;144(5):647-659.
- (52) Tochigi M, Zhang X, Ohashi J, Hibino H, Otowa T, Rogers M, Kato T, Okazaki Y, Kato N, Tokunaga K, Sasaki T. Association study of the dysbindin (DTNBP1) gene in schizophrenia from the Japanese population. *Neurosci Res* 2006 October;56(2):154-158.
- (53) Van Den BA, Schumacher J, Schulze TG, Otte AC, Ohlraun S, Kovalenko S, Becker T, Freudenberg J, Jonsson EG, Mattila-Evenden M, Sedvall GC, Czerski PM, Kapelski P, Hauser J, Maier W, Rietschel M, Propping P, Nothen MM, Cichon S. The DTNBP1 (dysbindin) gene contributes to schizophrenia, depending on family history of the disease. *Am J Hum Genet* 2003 December;73(6):1438-1443.
- (54) Straub RE, Jiang Y, MacLean CJ, Ma Y, Webb BT, Myakishev MV, Harris-Kerr C, Wormley B, Sadek H, Kadambi B, Cesare AJ, Gibberman A, Wang X,

O'Neill FA, Walsh D, Kendler KS. Genetic variation in the 6p22.3 gene DTNBP1, the human ortholog of the mouse dysbindin gene, is associated with schizophrenia. *Am J Hum Genet* 2002 August;71(2):337-348.

- (55) Talbot K, Eidem WL, Tinsley CL, Benson MA, Thompson EW, Smith RJ, Hahn CG, Siegel SJ, Trojanowski JQ, Gur RE, Blake DJ, Arnold SE. Dysbindin-1 is reduced in intrinsic, glutamatergic terminals of the hippocampal formation in schizophrenia. *J Clin Invest* 2004 May;113(9):1353-1363.
- (56) Wonodi I, Stine OC, Mitchell BD, Buchanan RW, Thaker GK. Association between Val108/158 Met polymorphism of the COMT gene and schizophrenia. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 2003 July 1;120(1):47-50.
- (57) Shifman S, Bronstein M, Sternfeld M, Pisante-Shalom A, Lev-Lehman E, Weizman A, Reznik I, Spivak B, Grisaru N, Karp L, Schiffer R, Kotler M, Strous RD, Swartz-Vanetik M, Knobler HY, Shinar E, Beckmann JS, Yakir B, Risch N, Zak NB, Darvasi A. A highly significant association between a COMT haplotype and schizophrenia. *Am J Hum Genet* 2002 December;71(6):1296-1302.
- (58) Egan MF, Goldberg TE, Kolachana BS, Callicott JH, Mazzanti CM, Straub RE, Goldman D, Weinberger DR. Effect of COMT Val108/158 Met genotype on frontal lobe function and risk for schizophrenia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001 June 5;98(12):6917-6922.
- (59) Millar JK, Wilson-Annan JC, Anderson S, Christie S, Taylor MS, Semple CA, Devon RS, Clair DM, Muir WJ, Blackwood DH, Porteous DJ. Disruption of two novel genes by a translocation co-segregating with schizophrenia. *Hum Mol Genet* 2000 May 22;9(9):1415-1423.
- (60) Millar JK, Christie S, Anderson S, Lawson D, Hsiao-Wei LD, Devon RS, Arveiler B, Muir WJ, Blackwood DH, Porteous DJ. Genomic structure and localisation within a linkage hotspot of Disrupted In Schizophrenia 1, a gene disrupted by a translocation segregating with schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* 2001 March;6(2):173-178.
- (61) Ishizuka K, Paek M, Kamiya A, Sawa A. A review of Disrupted-In-Schizophrenia-1 (DISC1): neurodevelopment, cognition, and mental conditions. *Biol Psychiatry* 2006 June 15;59(12):1189-1197.
- (62) Schurov IL, Handford EJ, Brandon NJ, Whiting PJ. Expression of disrupted in schizophrenia 1 (DISC1) protein in the adult and developing mouse brain indicates its role in neurodevelopment. *Mol Psychiatry* 2004 December;9(12):1100-1110.

- (63) Miyoshi K, Honda A, Baba K, Taniguchi M, Oono K, Fujita T, Kuroda S, Katayama T, Tohyama M. Disrupted-In-Schizophrenia 1, a candidate gene for schizophrenia, participates in neurite outgrowth. *Mol Psychiatry* 2003 July;8(7):685-694.
- (64) Mirnics K, Middleton FA, Lewis DA, Levitt P. Analysis of complex brain disorders with gene expression microarrays: schizophrenia as a disease of the synapse. *Trends Neurosci* 2001 August;24(8):479-486.
- (65) Stefanis N, Frangou S, Yakeley J, Sharma T, O'Connell P, Morgan K, Sigmudsson T, Taylor M, Murray R. Hippocampal volume reduction in schizophrenia: effects of genetic risk and pregnancy and birth complications. *Biol Psychiatry* 1999 September 1;46(5):697-702.
- (66) Bhugra D, Hutchinson G, Hilwig M, Takei N, Fahy TA, Neehall J, Murray RM. Pregnancy and birth complications in patients with schizophrenia in Trinidad and London. *West Indian Med J* 2003 June;52(2):124-126.
- (67) Dalman C, Thomas HV, David AS, Gentz J, Lewis G, Allebeck P. Signs of asphyxia at birth and risk of schizophrenia. Population-based case-control study. *Br J Psychiatry* 2001 November;179:403-408.
- (68) Cannon M, Jones PB, Murray RM. Obstetric complications and schizophrenia: historical and meta-analytic review. Am J Psychiatry 2002 July;159(7):1080-1092.
- (69) Brown AS, Susser ES. In utero infection and adult schizophrenia. *Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev* 2002;8(1):51-57.
- (70) Gilmore JH, Jarskog LF. Exposure to infection and brain development: cytokines in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* 1997 April 11;24(3):365-367.
- (71) Davis JO, Bracha HS. Famine and schizophrenia: first-trimester malnutrition or second-trimester beriberi. *Biol Psychiatry* 1996 July 1;40(1):1-3.
- (72) Weiser M, Reichenberg A, Rabinowitz J, Kaplan Z, Caspi A, Yasvizky R, Mark M, Knobler HY, Nahon D, Davidson M. Self-reported drug abuse in male adolescents with behavioral disturbances, and follow-up for future schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* 2003 September 15;54(6):655-660.
- (73) Hantraye P. Modeling dopamine system dysfunction in experimental animals. *Nucl Med Biol* 1998 November;25(8):721-728.
- (74) Sams-Dodd F. A test of the predictive validity of animal models of schizophrenia based on phencyclidine and D-amphetamine. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 1998 April;18(4):293-304.

- (75) Mohn AR, Gainetdinov RR, Caron MG, Koller BH. Mice with reduced NMDA receptor expression display behaviors related to schizophrenia. *Cell* 1999 August 20;98(4):427-436.
- (76) Corbett R, Camacho F, Woods AT, Kerman LL, Fishkin RJ, Brooks K, Dunn RW. Antipsychotic agents antagonize non-competitive N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist-induced behaviors. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 1995 July;120(1):67-74.
- (77) Bakshi VP, Geyer MA. Antagonism of phencyclidine-induced deficits in prepulse inhibition by the putative atypical antipsychotic olanzapine. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 1995 November;122(2):198-201.
- (78) Rimer M, Barrett DW, Maldonado MA, Vock VM, Gonzalez-Lima F. Neuregulin-1 immunoglobulin-like domain mutant mice: clozapine sensitivity and impaired latent inhibition. *Neuroreport* 2005 February 28;16(3):271-275.
- (79) Tomasiewicz H, Ono K, Yee D, Thompson C, Goridis C, Rutishauser U, Magnuson T. Genetic deletion of a neural cell adhesion molecule variant (N-CAM-180) produces distinct defects in the central nervous system. *Neuron* 1993 December;11(6):1163-1174.
- (80) Mohn AR, Gainetdinov RR, Caron MG, Koller BH. Mice with reduced NMDA receptor expression display behaviors related to schizophrenia. *Cell* 1999 August 20;98(4):427-436.
- (81) Brown AS, Susser ES, Butler PD, Richardson AR, Kaufmann CA, Gorman JM. Neurobiological plausibility of prenatal nutritional deprivation as a risk factor for schizophrenia. *J Nerv Ment Dis* 1996 February;184(2):71-85.
- (82) Bedi KS. Effects of undernutrition during early life on granule cell numbers in the rat dentate gyrus. *J Comp Neurol* 1991 September 15;311(3):425-433.
- (83) Bronzino JD, ustin-LaFrance RJ, Morgane PJ, Galler JR. Effects of prenatal protein malnutrition on kindling-induced alterations in dentate granule cell excitability. I. Synaptic transmission measures. *Exp Neurol* 1991 May;112(2):206-215.
- (84) Fatemi SH, Emamian ES, Kist D, Sidwell RW, Nakajima K, Akhter P, Shier A, Sheikh S, Bailey K. Defective corticogenesis and reduction in Reelin immunoreactivity in cortex and hippocampus of prenatally infected neonatal mice. *Mol Psychiatry* 1999 March;4(2):145-154.
- (85) Rehn AE, Van Den BM, Copolov D, Briscoe T, Lambert G, Rees S. An animal model of chronic placental insufficiency: relevance to neurodevelopmental disorders including schizophrenia. *Neuroscience* 2004;129(2):381-391.

- (86) Mallard EC, Rehn A, Rees S, Tolcos M, Copolov D. Ventriculomegaly and reduced hippocampal volume following intrauterine growth-restriction: implications for the aetiology of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* 1999 November 9;40(1):11-21.
- (87) Mallard C, Loeliger M, Copolov D, Rees S. Reduced number of neurons in the hippocampus and the cerebellum in the postnatal guinea-pig following intrauterine growth-restriction. *Neuroscience* 2000;100(2):327-333.
- (88) Featherstone RE, Rizos Z, Nobrega JN, Kapur S, Fletcher PJ. Gestational methylazoxymethanol acetate treatment impairs select cognitive functions: parallels to schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2007 February;32(2):483-492.
- (89) Moore H, Jentsch JD, Ghajarnia M, Geyer MA, Grace AA. A neurobehavioral systems analysis of adult rats exposed to methylazoxymethanol acetate on E17: implications for the neuropathology of schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* 2006 August 1;60(3):253-264.
- (90) Talamini LM, Koch T, Ter Horst GJ, Korf J. Methylazoxymethanol acetateinduced abnormalities in the entorhinal cortex of the rat; parallels with morphological findings in schizophrenia. *Brain Res* 1998 April 13;789(2):293-306.
- (91) Garner B, Wood SJ, Pantelis C, van den BM. Early maternal deprivation reduces prepulse inhibition and impairs spatial learning ability in adulthood: No further effect of post-pubertal chronic corticosterone treatment. *Behav Brain Res* 2007 January 25;176(2):323-332.
- (92) Lipska BK, Jaskiw GE, Weinberger DR. Postpubertal emergence of hyperresponsiveness to stress and to amphetamine after neonatal excitotoxic hippocampal damage: a potential animal model of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 1993 August;9(1):67-75.
- (93) Lawrie SM, Abukmeil SS. Brain abnormality in schizophrenia. A systematic and quantitative review of volumetric magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Br J Psychiatry* 1998 February;172:110-120.
- (94) Maier M, Mellers J, Toone B, Trimble M, Ron MA. Schizophrenia, temporal lobe epilepsy and psychosis: an in vivo magnetic resonance spectroscopy and imaging study of the hippocampus/amygdala complex. *Psychol Med* 2000 May;30(3):571-581.
- (95) Szeszko PR, Goldberg E, Gunduz-Bruce H, Ashtari M, Robinson D, Malhotra AK, Lencz T, Bates J, Crandall DT, Kane JM, Bilder RM. Smaller anterior hippocampal formation volume in antipsychotic-naive patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* 2003 December;160(12):2190-2197.

- (96) Wood SJ, Velakoulis D, Smith DJ, Bond D, Stuart GW, McGorry PD, Brewer WJ, Bridle N, Eritaia J, Desmond P, Singh B, Copolov D, Pantelis C. A longitudinal study of hippocampal volume in first episode psychosis and chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* 2001 October 1;52(1-2):37-46.
- (97) Weinberger DR, Zigun JR, Bartley AJ, Jones DW, Torrey EF. Anatomical abnormalities in the brains of monozygotic twins discordant and concordant for schizophrenia. *Clin Neuropharmacol* 1992;15 Suppl 1 Pt A:122A-123A.
- (98) Maier M, Ron MA, Barker GJ, Tofts PS. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy: an in vivo method of estimating hippocampal neuronal depletion in schizophrenia. *Psychol Med* 1995 November;25(6):1201-1209.
- (99) Deicken RF, Zhou L, Schuff N, Fein G, Weiner MW. Hippocampal neuronal dysfunction in schizophrenia as measured by proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Biol Psychiatry* 1998 April 1;43(7):483-488.
- (100) Weinberger DR. Anteromedial temporal-prefrontal connectivity: A functional neuroanatomical system implicated in schizophrenia. In: Carroll BJ BJ, ed. Psychopathology and the Brain. New York: Raven Press, 1991:25-39.
- (101) Steward O. Topographic organization of the projections from the entorhinal area to the hippocampal formation of the rat. *J Comp Neurol* 1976 June 1;167(3):285-314.
- (102) Verwer RW, Meijer RJ, Van Uum HF, Witter MP. Collateral projections from the rat hippocampal formation to the lateral and medial prefrontal cortex. *Hippocampus* 1997;7(4):397-402.
- (103) Mulder AB, Hodenpijl MG, Lopes da Silva FH. Electrophysiology of the hippocampal and amygdaloid projections to the nucleus accumbens of the rat: convergence, segregation, and interaction of inputs. *J Neurosci* 1998 July 1;18(13):5095-5102.
- (104) Psatta DM. Mutual relations of dorsal and ventral hippocampus with the hypothalamus. I. Hippocampo-hypothalamic projections. *Rev Roum Med* 1974;12(6):441-451.
- (105) Jakob H, Beckmann H. Prenatal developmental disturbances in the limbic allocortex in schizophrenics. *J Neural Transm* 1986;65(3-4):303-326.
- (106) Kovelman JA, Scheibel AB. A neurohistological correlate of schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* 1984 December;19(12):1601-1621.
- (107) Sapolsky RM, Uno H, Rebert CS, Finch CE. Hippocampal damage associated with prolonged glucocorticoid exposure in primates. *J Neurosci* 1990 September;10(9):2897-2902.

- (108) Lipska BK, Jaskiw GE, Chrapusta S, Karoum F, Weinberger DR. Ibotenic acid lesion of the ventral hippocampus differentially affects dopamine and its metabolites in the nucleus accumbens and prefrontal cortex in the rat. *Brain Res* 1992 July 10;585(1-2):1-6.
- (109) Lipska BK, Jaskiw GE, Karoum F, Phillips I, Kleinman JE, Weinberger DR. Dorsal hippocampal lesion does not affect dopaminergic indices in the basal ganglia. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 1991 September;40(1):181-184.
- (110) Flores G, Silva-Gomez AB, Ibanez O, Quirion R, Srivastava LK. Comparative behavioral changes in postpubertal rats after neonatal excitotoxic lesions of the ventral hippocampus and the prefrontal cortex. *Synapse* 2005 June 1;56(3):147-153.
- (111) Sams-Dodd F, Lipska BK, Weinberger DR. Neonatal lesions of the rat ventral hippocampus result in hyperlocomotion and deficits in social behaviour in adulthood. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 1997 August;132(3):303-310.
- (112) Le PG, Gaudet L, Mortas P, Mory R, Moreau JL. Deficits in reward sensitivity in a neurodevelopmental rat model of schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl*) 2002 June;161(4):434-441.
- (113) Chambers RA, Moore J, McEvoy JP, Levin ED. Cognitive effects of neonatal hippocampal lesions in a rat model of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 1996 December;15(6):587-594.
- (114) Le PG, Moreau JL. Disruption of prepulse inhibition of startle reflex in a neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia: reversal by clozapine, olanzapine and risperidone but not by haloperidol. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2002 July;27(1):1-11.
- (115) Chambers RA, Moore J, McEvoy JP, Levin ED. Cognitive effects of neonatal hippocampal lesions in a rat model of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 1996 December;15(6):587-594.
- (116) Wood GK, Lipska BK, Weinberger DR. Behavioral changes in rats with early ventral hippocampal damage vary with age at damage. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 1997 July 18;101(1-2):17-25.
- (117) Lipska BK, Halim ND, Segal PN, Weinberger DR. Effects of reversible inactivation of the neonatal ventral hippocampus on behavior in the adult rat. *J Neurosci* 2002 April 1;22(7):2835-2842.
- (118) Bayer SA. Development of the hippocampal region in the rat. I. Neurogenesis examined with 3H-thymidine autoradiography. *J Comp Neurol* 1980 March 1;190(1):87-114.

- (119) Bayer SA. Development of the hippocampal region in the rat. II. Morphogenesis during embryonic and early postnatal life. *J Comp Neurol* 1980 March 1;190(1):115-134.
- (120) Dobbing J, Sands J. Quantitative growth and development of human brain. *Arch Dis Child* 1973 October;48(10):757-767.
- (121) Dobbing J, Sands J. Comparative aspects of the brain growth spurt. *Early Hum Dev* 1979 March;3(1):79-83.
- (122) Silva-Gomez AB, Bermudez M, Quirion R, Srivastava LK, Picazo O, Flores G. Comparative behavioral changes between male and female postpubertal rats following neonatal excitotoxic lesions of the ventral hippocampus. *Brain Res* 2003 May 30;973(2):285-292.
- (123) Lipska BK, Weinberger DR. Genetic variation in vulnerability to the behavioral effects of neonatal hippocampal damage in rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A 1995 September 12;92(19):8906-8910.
- (124) Carr DB, Sesack SR. Hippocampal afferents to the rat prefrontal cortex: synaptic targets and relation to dopamine terminals. *J Comp Neurol* 1996 May 20;369(1):1-15.
- (125) Pierri JN, Volk CL, Auh S, Sampson A, Lewis DA. Somal size of prefrontal cortical pyramidal neurons in schizophrenia: differential effects across neuronal subpopulations. *Biol Psychiatry* 2003 July 15;54(2):111-120.
- (126) Lewis DA, Glantz LA, Pierri JN, Sweet RA. Altered cortical glutamate neurotransmission in schizophrenia: evidence from morphological studies of pyramidal neurons. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2003 November;1003:102-112.
- (127) Beasley CL, Zhang ZJ, Patten I, Reynolds GP. Selective deficits in prefrontal cortical GABAergic neurons in schizophrenia defined by the presence of calcium-binding proteins. *Biol Psychiatry* 2002 October 1;52(7):708-715.
- (128) Reynolds GP, Beasley CL, Zhang ZJ. Understanding the neurotransmitter pathology of schizophrenia: selective deficits of subtypes of cortical GABAergic neurons. *J Neural Transm* 2002 May;109(5-6):881-889.
- (129) Glantz LA, Lewis DA. Decreased dendritic spine density on prefrontal cortical pyramidal neurons in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000 January;57(1):65-73.
- (130) Garey LJ, Ong WY, Patel TS, Kanani M, Davis A, Mortimer AM, Barnes TR, Hirsch SR. Reduced dendritic spine density on cerebral cortical pyramidal neurons in schizophrenia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1998 October;65(4):446-453.

- (131) Potkin SG, Alva G, Fleming K, Anand R, Keator D, Carreon D, Doo M, Jin Y, Wu JC, Fallon JH. A PET study of the pathophysiology of negative symptoms in schizophrenia. Positron emission tomography. *Am J Psychiatry* 2002 February;159(2):227-237.
- (132) Volkow ND, Wolf AP, Van GP, Brodie JD, Overall JE, Cancro R, Gomez-Mont F. Phenomenological correlates of metabolic activity in 18 patients with chronic schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* 1987 February;144(2):151-158.
- (133) Lipska BK, Al-Amin HA, Weinberger DR. Excitotoxic lesions of the rat medial prefrontal cortex. Effects on abnormal behaviors associated with neonatal hippocampal damage. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 1998 December;19(6):451-464.
- (134) Khaing ZZ, Weickert CS, Weinberger DR, Lipska BK. Differential DNA damage in response to the neonatal and adult excitotoxic hippocampal lesion in rats. *Eur J Neurosci* 2000 December;12(12):4424-4433.
- (135) Bertolino A, Roffman JL, Lipska BK, van GP, Olson A, Weinberger DR. Reduced N-acetylaspartate in prefrontal cortex of adult rats with neonatal hippocampal damage. *Cereb Cortex* 2002 September;12(9):983-990.
- (136) Schroeder H, Grecksch G, Becker A, Bogerts B, Hoellt V. Alterations of the dopaminergic and glutamatergic neurotransmission in adult rats with postnatal ibotenic acid hippocampal lesion. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 1999 July;145(1):61-66.
- (137) Flores G, Barbeau D, Quirion R, Srivastava LK. Decreased binding of dopamine D3 receptors in limbic subregions after neonatal bilateral lesion of rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci* 1996 March 15;16(6):2020-2026.
- (138) Truettner J, Schmidt-Kastner R, Busto R, Alonso OF, Loor JY, Dietrich WD, Ginsberg MD. Expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor, nerve growth factor, and heat shock protein HSP70 following fluid percussion brain injury in rats. *J Neurotrauma* 1999 June;16(6):471-486.
- (139) Molteni R, Lipska BK, Weinberger DR, Racagni G, Riva MA. Developmental and stress-related changes of neurotrophic factor gene expression in an animal model of schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* 2001 May;6(3):285-292.
- (140) Bhardwaj SK, Beaudry G, Quirion R, Levesque D, Srivastava LK. Neonatal ventral hippocampus lesion leads to reductions in nerve growth factor inducible-B mRNA in the prefrontal cortex and increased amphetamine response in the nucleus accumbens and dorsal striatum. *Neuroscience* 2003;122(3):669-676.
- (141) Lipska BK, Lerman DN, Khaing ZZ, Weinberger DR. The neonatal ventral hippocampal lesion model of schizophrenia: effects on dopamine and GABA

mRNA markers in the rat midbrain. *Eur J Neurosci* 2003 December;18(11):3097-3104.

- (142) Tseng KY, Amin F, Lewis BL, O'Donnell P. Altered prefrontal cortical metabolic response to mesocortical activation in adult animals with a neonatal ventral hippocampal lesion. *Biol Psychiatry* 2006 September 15;60(6):585-590.
- (143) Lillrank SM, Lipska BK, Bachus SE, Wood GK, Weinberger DR. Amphetamine-induced c-fos mRNA expression is altered in rats with neonatal ventral hippocampal damage. *Synapse* 1996 August;23(4):292-301.
- (144) Flores G, Alquicer G, Silva-Gomez AB, Zaldivar G, Stewart J, Quirion R, Srivastava LK. Alterations in dendritic morphology of prefrontal cortical and nucleus accumbens neurons in post-pubertal rats after neonatal excitotoxic lesions of the ventral hippocampus. *Neuroscience* 2005;133(2):463-470.
- (145) O'Donnell P, Lewis BL, Weinberger DR, Lipska BK. Neonatal hippocampal damage alters electrophysiological properties of prefrontal cortical neurons in adult rats. *Cereb Cortex* 2002 September;12(9):975-982.
- (146) Goto Y, O'Donnell P. Delayed mesolimbic system alteration in a developmental animal model of schizophrenia. *J Neurosci* 2002 October 15;22(20):9070-9077.
- (147) Goto Y, O'Donnell P. Prefrontal lesion reverses abnormal mesoaccumbens response in an animal model of schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* 2004 January 15;55(2):172-176.
- (148) Wan RQ, Giovanni A, Kafka SH, Corbett R. Neonatal hippocampal lesions induced hyperresponsiveness to amphetamine: behavioral and in vivo microdialysis studies. *Behav Brain Res* 1996 August;78(2):211-223.
- (149) Lillrank SM, Lipska BK, Kolachana BS, Weinberger DR. Attenuated extracellular dopamine levels after stress and amphetamine in the nucleus accumbens of rats with neonatal ventral hippocampal damage. *J Neural Transm* 1999;106(2):183-196.
- (150) Brake WG, Sullivan RM, Flores G, Srivastava LK, Gratton A. Neonatal ventral hippocampal lesions attenuate the nucleus accumbens dopamine response to stress: an electrochemical study in the adult rat. *Brain Res* 1999 June 12;831(1-2):25-32.
- (151) Wan RQ, Corbett R. Enhancement of postsynaptic sensitivity to dopaminergic agonists induced by neonatal hippocampal lesions. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 1997 April;16(4):259-268.

- (152) Przegalinski E, Siwanowicz J, Nowak E, Papla I, Filip M. Role of 5-HT(1B) receptors in the sensitization to amphetamine in mice. *Eur J Pharmacol* 2001 June 22;422(1-3):91-99.
- (153) Fujishiro H, Umegaki H, Suzuki Y, Oohara-Kurotani S, Yamaguchi Y, Iguchi A. Dopamine D2 receptor plays a role in memory function: implications of dopamine-acetylcholine interaction in the ventral hippocampus. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 2005 October;182(2):253-261.
- (154) Berridge CW, Waterhouse BD. The locus coeruleus-noradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* 2003 April;42(1):33-84.
- (155) Yamamoto K, Hornykiewicz O. Proposal for a noradrenaline hypothesis of schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* 2004 August;28(5):913-922.
- (156) Berridge CW, Waterhouse BD. The locus coeruleus-noradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* 2003 April;42(1):33-84.
- (157) Ramos BP, Arnsten AF. Adrenergic pharmacology and cognition: focus on the prefrontal cortex. *Pharmacol Ther* 2007 March;113(3):523-536.
- (158) Murrin LC, Sanders JD, Bylund DB. Comparison of the maturation of the adrenergic and serotonergic neurotransmitter systems in the brain: implications for differential drug effects on juveniles and adults. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2007 April 15;73(8):1225-1236.
- (159) Lena I, Chessel A, Le PG, Krebs MO, Garcia R. Alterations in prefrontal glutamatergic and noradrenergic systems following MK-801 administration in rats prenatally exposed to methylazoxymethanol at gestational day 17. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 2007 February 6.
- (160) Schmitt A, Fendt M, Zink M, Ebert U, Starke M, Berthold M, Herb A, Petroianu G, Falkai P, Henn FA. Altered NMDA receptor expression and behavior following postnatal hypoxia: potential relevance to schizophrenia. J Neural Transm 2007 February;114(2):239-248.
- (161) Wood GK, Lipska BK, Weinberger DR. Behavioral changes in rats with early ventral hippocampal damage vary with age at damage. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 1997 July 18;101(1-2):17-25.
- (162) Morris MJ, Dausse JP, Devynck MA, Meyer P. Ontogeny of alpha 1 and alpha 2-adrenoceptors in rat brain. *Brain Res* 1980 May 19;190(1):268-271.

- (163) Winzer-Serhan UH, Leslie FM. Alpha2B adrenoceptor mRNA expression during rat brain development. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 1997 May 20;100(1):90-100.
- (164) Winzer-Serhan UH, Raymon HK, Broide RS, Chen Y, Leslie FM. Expression of alpha 2 adrenoceptors during rat brain development--II. Alpha 2C messenger RNA expression and [3H]rauwolscine binding. *Neuroscience* 1997 January;76(1):261-272.
- (165) Winzer-Serhan UH, Raymon HK, Broide RS, Chen Y, Leslie FM. Expression of alpha 2 adrenoceptors during rat brain development--I. Alpha 2A messenger RNA expression. *Neuroscience* 1997 January;76(1):241-260.
- (166) Pittman RN, Minneman KP, Molinoff PB. Ontogeny of beta 1- and beta 2adrenergic receptors in rat cerebellum and cerebral cortex. *Brain Res* 1980 April 28;188(2):357-368.
- (167) Pascucci T, Ventura R, Latagliata EC, Cabib S, Puglisi-Allegra S. The Medial Prefrontal Cortex Determines the Accumbens Dopamine Response to Stress through the Opposing Influences of Norepinephrine and Dopamine. *Cereb Cortex* 2007 February 24.
- (168) Pan WH, Yang SY, Lin SK. Neurochemical interaction between dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons in the medial prefrontal cortex. *Synapse* 2004 July;53(1):44-52.
- (169) Dickinson SL, Gadie B, Tulloch IF. Alpha 1- and alpha 2-adrenoreceptor antagonists differentially influence locomotor and stereotyped behaviour induced by d-amphetamine and apomorphine in the rat. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl*) 1988;96(4):521-527.
- (170) Grenhoff J, Svensson TH. Prazosin modulates the firing pattern of dopamine neurons in rat ventral tegmental area. *Eur J Pharmacol* 1993 March 16;233(1):79-84.
- (171) Pascucci T, Ventura R, Latagliata EC, Cabib S, Puglisi-Allegra S. The Medial Prefrontal Cortex Determines the Accumbens Dopamine Response to Stress through the Opposing Influences of Norepinephrine and Dopamine. *Cereb Cortex* 2007 February 24.
- (172) Burton S. Symptom domains of schizophrenia: the role of atypical antipsychotic agents. *J Psychopharmacol* 2006 November;20(6 Suppl):6-19.
- (173) Horacek J, Bubenikova-Valesova V, Kopecek M, Palenicek T, Dockery C, Mohr P, Hoschl C. Mechanism of action of atypical antipsychotic drugs and the neurobiology of schizophrenia. *CNS Drugs* 2006;20(5):389-409.

- (174) Cahir M, King DJ. Antipsychotics lack alpha 1A/B adrenoceptor subtype selectivity in the rat. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 2005 March;15(2):231-234.
- (175) Zavitsanou K, Nguyen VH, Han M, Huang XF. Effects of typical and atypical antipsychotic drugs on rat brain muscarinic receptors. *Neurochem Res* 2007 March;32(3):525-532.
- (176) van Kammen DP, Antelman S. Impaired noradrenergic transmission in schizophrenia? *Life Sci* 1984 April 9;34(15):1403-1413.
- (177) Gomes UC, Shanley BC, Potgieter L, Roux JT. Noradrenergic overactivity in chronic schizophrenia: evidence based on cerebrospinal fluid noradrenaline and cyclic nucleotide concentrations. *Br J Psychiatry* 1980 October;137:346-351.
- (178) van Kammen DP, Peters J, Yao J, van Kammen WB, Neylan T, Shaw D, Linnoila M. Norepinephrine in acute exacerbations of chronic schizophrenia. Negative symptoms revisited. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1990 February;47(2):161-168.
- (179) Arnsten AF, Goldman-Rakic PS. Alpha 2-adrenergic mechanisms in prefrontal cortex associated with cognitive decline in aged nonhuman primates. *Science* 1985 December 13;230(4731):1273-1276.
- (180) Arnsten AF, Goldman-Rakic PS. Noradrenergic mechanisms in age-related cognitive decline. *J Neural Transm Suppl* 1987;24:317-324.
- (181) Arnsten AF, Jentsch JD. The alpha-1 adrenergic agonist, cirazoline, impairs spatial working memory performance in aged monkeys. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 1997 September;58(1):55-59.
- (182) Arnsten AF, Mathew R, Ubriani R, Taylor JR, Li BM. Alpha-1 noradrenergic receptor stimulation impairs prefrontal cortical cognitive function. *Biol Psychiatry* 1999 January 1;45(1):26-31.
- (183) Birnbaum S, Gobeske KT, Auerbach J, Taylor JR, Arnsten AF. A role for norepinephrine in stress-induced cognitive deficits: alpha-1-adrenoceptor mediation in the prefrontal cortex. *Biol Psychiatry* 1999 November 1;46(9):1266-1274.
- (184) Ramos BP, Colgan L, Nou E, Ovadia S, Wilson SR, Arnsten AF. The beta-1 adrenergic antagonist, betaxolol, improves working memory performance in rats and monkeys. *Biol Psychiatry* 2005 December 1;58(11):894-900.
- (185) Alsene KM, Carasso BS, Connors EE, Bakshi VP. Disruption of prepulse inhibition after stimulation of central but not peripheral alpha-1 adrenergic receptors. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2006 October;31(10):2150-2161.

- (186) Stone EA, Cotecchia S, Lin Y, Quartermain D. Role of brain alpha 1Badrenoceptors in modafinil-induced behavioral activity. *Synapse* 2002 December 15;46(4):269-270.
- (187) Duteil J, Rambert FA, Pessonnier J, Hermant JF, Gombert R, Assous E. Central alpha 1-adrenergic stimulation in relation to the behaviour stimulating effect of modafinil; studies with experimental animals. *Eur J Pharmacol* 1990 May 3;180(1):49-58.
- (188) Ma CL, Arnsten AF, Li BM. Locomotor hyperactivity induced by blockade of prefrontal cortical alpha2-adrenoceptors in monkeys. *Biol Psychiatry* 2005 January 15;57(2):192-195.
- (189) Bakshi VP, Geyer MA. Phencyclidine-induced deficits in prepulse inhibition of startle are blocked by prazosin, an alpha-1 noradrenergic antagonist. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1997 November;283(2):666-674.
- (190) Bhardwaj SK, Quirion R, Srivastava LK. Post-pubertal adrenergic changes in rats with neonatal lesions of the ventral hippocampus. *Neuropharmacology* 2004 January;46(1):85-94.
- (191) Blumenthal TD, Schicatano EJ, Chapman JG, Norris CM, Ergenzinger ER, Jr. Prepulse effects on magnitude estimation of startle-eliciting stimuli and startle responses. *Percept Psychophys* 1996 January;58(1):73-80.
- (192) Pieribone VA, Nicholas AP, Dagerlind A, Hokfelt T. Distribution of alpha 1 adrenoceptors in rat brain revealed by in situ hybridization experiments utilizing subtype-specific probes. *J Neurosci* 1994 July;14(7):4252-4268.
- (193) Day HE, Campeau S, Watson SJ, Jr., Akil H. Distribution of alpha 1a-, alpha 1b- and alpha 1d-adrenergic receptor mRNA in the rat brain and spinal cord. *J Chem Neuroanat* 1997 July;13(2):115-139.
- (194) Papay R, Gaivin R, Jha A, McCune DF, McGrath JC, Rodrigo MC, Simpson PC, Doze VA, Perez DM. Localization of the mouse alpha1A-adrenergic receptor (AR) in the brain: alpha1AAR is expressed in neurons, GABAergic interneurons, and NG2 oligodendrocyte progenitors. *J Comp Neurol* 2006 July 10;497(2):209-222.
- (195) Cash R, Raisman R, Lanfumey L, Ploska A, Agid Y. Cellular localization of adrenergic receptors in rat and human brain. *Brain Res* 1986 April 2;370(1):127-135.
- (196) Arnsten AF, Steere JC, Jentsch DJ, Li BM. Noradrenergic influences on prefrontal cortical cognitive function: opposing actions at postjunctional alpha 1 versus alpha 2-adrenergic receptors. *Adv Pharmacol* 1998;42:764-767.

- (197) Sadalge A, Coughlin L, Fu H, Wang B, Valladares O, Valentino R, Blendy JA. alpha 1d Adrenoceptor signaling is required for stimulus induced locomotor activity. *Mol Psychiatry* 2003 July;8(7):664-672.
- (198) Drouin C, Darracq L, Trovero F, Blanc G, Glowinski J, Cotecchia S, Tassin JP. Alpha1b-adrenergic receptors control locomotor and rewarding effects of psychostimulants and opiates. *J Neurosci* 2002 April 1;22(7):2873-2884.
- (199) Stone EA, Cotecchia S, Lin Y, Quartermain D. Role of brain alpha 1Badrenoceptors in modafinil-induced behavioral activity. *Synapse* 2002 December 15;46(4):269-270.
- (200) Duteil J, Rambert FA, Pessonnier J, Hermant JF, Gombert R, Assous E. Central alpha 1-adrenergic stimulation in relation to the behaviour stimulating effect of modafinil; studies with experimental animals. *Eur J Pharmacol* 1990 May 3;180(1):49-58.
- (201) Stone EA, Quartermain D, Lin Y, Lehmann ML. Central alpha1-adrenergic system in behavioral activity and depression. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2007 April 15;73(8):1063-1075.
- (202) Jaskiw GE, Weinberger DR. Ibotenic acid lesions of medial prefrontal cortex augment swim-stress-induced locomotion. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 1992 March;41(3):607-609.
- (203) Jaskiw GE, Karoum F, Freed WJ, Phillips I, Kleinman JE, Weinberger DR. Effect of ibotenic acid lesions of the medial prefrontal cortex on amphetamineinduced locomotion and regional brain catecholamine concentrations in the rat. *Brain Res* 1990 November 26;534(1-2):263-272.
- (204) Perugini M, Vezina P. Amphetamine administered to the ventral tegmental area sensitizes rats to the locomotor effects of nucleus accumbens amphetamine. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1994 August;270(2):690-696.
- (205) Woods VE, Ettenberg A. Increased amphetamine-induced locomotion during inactivation of the basolateral amygdala. *Behav Brain Res* 2004 February 4;149(1):33-39.
- (206) Brown EE, Fibiger HC. Differential effects of excitotoxic lesions of the amygdala on cocaine-induced conditioned locomotion and conditioned place preference. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 1993;113(1):123-130.
- (207) Lee EH, Tsai MJ. The hippocampus and amygdala mediate the locomotor stimulating effects of corticotropin-releasing factor in mice. *Behav Neural Biol* 1989 May;51(3):412-423.
- (208) Vezina P, Blanc G, Glowinski J, Tassin JP. Opposed Behavioural Outputs of Increased Dopamine Transmission in Prefrontocortical and Subcortical Areas:

A Role for the Cortical D-1 Dopamine Receptor. *Eur J Neurosci* 1991;3(10):1001-1007.

- (209) Gioanni Y, Thierry AM, Glowinski J, Tassin JP. Alpha1-adrenergic, D1, and D2 receptors interactions in the prefrontal cortex: implications for the modality of action of different types of neuroleptics. *Synapse* 1998 December;30(4):362-370.
- (210) Darracq L, Drouin C, Blanc G, Glowinski J, Tassin JP. Stimulation of metabotropic but not ionotropic glutamatergic receptors in the nucleus accumbens is required for the D-amphetamine-induced release of functional dopamine. *Neuroscience* 2001;103(2):395-403.
- (211) Wellman PJ, Davies BT. Effects of the alpha 1-adrenergic agonist cirazoline on locomotion and brown adipose tissue thermogenesis in the rat. *Life Sci* 1992;50(23):1745-1753.
- (212) Brasili L, Pigini M, Marucci G, Quaglia W, Malmusi L, Lanier SM, Lanier B. Separation of alpha-adrenergic and imidazoline/guanidinium receptive sites (IGRS) activity in a series of imidazoline analogues of cirazoline. *Bioorg Med Chem* 1995 November;3(11):1503-1509.
- (213) Barrot M, Rettori MC, Guardiola-Lemaitre B, Jarry C, Le MM, Piazza PV. Interactions between imidazoline binding sites and dopamine levels in the rat nucleus accumbens. *Eur J Neurosci* 2000 December;12(12):4547-4551.
- (214) Astrachan DI, Davis M. Spinal modulation of the acoustic startle response: the role of norepinephrine, serotonin and dopamine. *Brain Res* 1981 February 9;206(1):223-228.
- (215) Swerdlow NR, Geyer MA, Braff DL. Neural circuit regulation of prepulse inhibition of startle in the rat: current knowledge and future challenges. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 2001 July;156(2-3):194-215.
- (216) Swerdlow NR, Taaid N, Halim N, Randolph E, Kim YK, Auerbach P. Hippocampal lesions enhance startle gating-disruptive effects of apomorphine in rats: a parametric assessment. *Neuroscience* 2000;96(3):523-536.
- (217) Daenen EW, Wolterink G, Van Der Heyden JA, Kruse CG, Van Ree JM. Neonatal lesions in the amygdala or ventral hippocampus disrupt prepulse inhibition of the acoustic startle response; implications for an animal model of neurodevelopmental disorders like schizophrenia. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 2003 May;13(3):187-197.
- (218) Lipska BK, Swerdlow NR, Geyer MA, Jaskiw GE, Braff DL, Weinberger DR. Neonatal excitotoxic hippocampal damage in rats causes post-pubertal changes in prepulse inhibition of startle and its disruption by apomorphine. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 1995 November;122(1):35-43.

- (219) Koch M, Bubser M. Deficient sensorimotor gating after 6-hydroxydopamine lesion of the rat medial prefrontal cortex is reversed by haloperidol. *Eur J Neurosci* 1994 December 1;6(12):1837-1845.
- (220) Bubser M, Koch M. Prepulse inhibition of the acoustic startle response of rats is reduced by 6-hydroxydopamine lesions of the medial prefrontal cortex. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 1994 January;113(3-4):487-492.
- (221) Ellenbroek BA, Budde S, Cools AR. Prepulse inhibition and latent inhibition: the role of dopamine in the medial prefrontal cortex. *Neuroscience* 1996 November;75(2):535-542.
- (222) Oranje B, Kahn RS, Kemner C, Verbaten MN. Modulating sensorimotor gating in healthy volunteers: the effects of desipramine and haloperidol. *Psychiatry Res* 2004 July 15;127(3):195-205.
- (223) Barr AM, Powell SB, Markou A, Geyer MA. Iloperidone reduces sensorimotor gating deficits in pharmacological models, but not a developmental model, of disrupted prepulse inhibition in rats. *Neuropharmacology* 2006 September;51(3):457-465.
- (224) Lipska BK, Chrapusta SJ, Egan MF, Weinberger DR. Neonatal excitotoxic ventral hippocampal damage alters dopamine response to mild repeated stress and to chronic haloperidol. *Synapse* 1995 June;20(2):125-130.
- (225) Marek GJ, Aghajanian GK. 5-HT2A receptor or alpha1-adrenoceptor activation induces excitatory postsynaptic currents in layer V pyramidal cells of the medial prefrontal cortex. *Eur J Pharmacol* 1999 February 19;367(2-3):197-206.
- (226) Papay R, Gaivin R, Jha A, McCune DF, McGrath JC, Rodrigo MC, Simpson PC, Doze VA, Perez DM. Localization of the mouse alpha1A-adrenergic receptor (AR) in the brain: alpha1AAR is expressed in neurons, GABAergic interneurons, and NG2 oligodendrocyte progenitors. *J Comp Neurol* 2006 July 10;497(2):209-222.
- (227) McCune SK, Voigt MM, Hill JM. Expression of multiple alpha adrenergic receptor subtype messenger RNAs in the adult rat brain. *Neuroscience* 1993 November;57(1):143-151.
- (228) Villegier AS, Drouin C, Bizot JC, Marien M, Glowinski J, Colpaert F, Tassin JP. Stimulation of postsynaptic alpha1b- and alpha2-adrenergic receptors amplifies dopamine-mediated locomotor activity in both rats and mice. *Synapse* 2003 December 15;50(4):277-284.
- (229) Wang Y, Gu Q, Mao F, Cynader MS. Developmental expression and regulation of alpha 1 adrenergic receptors in cultured cortical neurons. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 1997 August 18;102(1):35-46.

- (230) margos-Bosch M, Adell A, Bortolozzi A, Artigas F. Stimulation of alpha1adrenoceptors in the rat medial prefrontal cortex increases the local in vivo 5hydroxytryptamine release: reversal by antipsychotic drugs. *J Neurochem* 2003 November;87(4):831-842.
- (231) Marek GJ, Aghajanian GK. 5-HT2A receptor or alpha1-adrenoceptor activation induces excitatory postsynaptic currents in layer V pyramidal cells of the medial prefrontal cortex. *Eur J Pharmacol* 1999 February 19;367(2-3):197-206.
- (232) Chalothorn D, McCune DF, Edelmann SE, Garcia-Cazarin ML, Tsujimoto G, Piascik MT. Differences in the cellular localization and agonist-mediated internalization properties of the alpha(1)-adrenoceptor subtypes. *Mol Pharmacol* 2002 May;61(5):1008-1016.
- (233) Petrovska R, Kapa I, Klovins J, Schioth HB, Uhlen S. Addition of a signal peptide sequence to the alpha1D-adrenoceptor gene increases the density of receptors, as determined by [3H]-prazosin binding in the membranes. *Br J Pharmacol* 2005 March;144(5):651-659.
- (234) Clark DA, Arranz MJ, Mata I, Lopez-Ilundain J, Perez-Nievas F, Kerwin RW. Polymorphisms in the promoter region of the alpha1A-adrenoceptor gene are associated with schizophrenia/schizoaffective disorder in a Spanish isolate population. *Biol Psychiatry* 2005 September 15;58(6):435-439.

APPENDIX

Research Compliance Certificate for Animal Subjects

McGill Un RENEV	APPROVED iversity Anim: WAL of Anim For: Research	al Care mal Us	e Committee se Protocol ching project	Protoco Approv Facility Renewa	For Of I #: al end d Commi al#:	fice Use Only: 3383 late: Ours 71, 5 ittee: DH 2 ^{ad}
Principal Investigator:	Lalit K. Srivasta	ava	5. ⁸	Protocol #	3283	3
	Role of cortical all behavioral changes lesions: Implicatio	pha-1 adre s in rats w ons for dev	energic receptors in delaye ith neonatal hippocampal relopmental psychiatric	d	514	7(1 (121
Protocol Title:	disorders.	D	0	Phone:	514-	762 2024
Unit, Dept. & Address:	Douglas Hospital	Research	Centre	Fax:		702-3034
Email: lalit.srivastava	@mcgill.ca	Lev	End of Fandling	Funding source:	CINK	
1. Personnel and List the names of the Pr	Qualifications rincipal Investigator	and of a	ll individuals who will be	in contact with ani	mals in	this study and thei
1. Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand Name	rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role onnel listed here. Re as needed) Classificat	איש און and of al hnician, r of the stu fer to <u>איש</u> tion	l individuals who will be esearch assistant, underp dent and the supervision wanimalcare.megill.ca Animal Related Training Information	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate received must be c or details. Each per Occupational H Program *	mals in student lescribe son liste lealth	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m Signature "Has read the origi full protocol"
1. Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand Name	Qualifications rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role connel listed here. Re <i>as needed</i>) Classificat PI	nd of a hnician, r of the stu fer to <u>ww</u> tion	I individuals who will be essarch assistant, under ident and the supervision wanimalcare.mcgill.ca fo Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theo McGill course, Theo	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate received must be o or details. Each per Occupational H Program *	mals in student lescribe son liste lealth yes	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m Signature "Has read the origi full protocol"
1. Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand i Name Lalit Srivastava Sanjeev Bhardwaj Acathi Komath	Qualifications rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role onnel listed here. Re <i>as needed</i>) Classificat PI Post-doo MSc	and of a hnician, r of the stu fer to <u>ww</u> tion	I individuals who will be essearch assistant, under ident and the supervision w.animalcare.mcgill.ca for Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theo McGill course, work To attend Mcgill co	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate received must be c or details. Each per Occupational H Program * ry kshop urse	mals in student lescribe son liste lealth yes yes yes	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m Signature "Has read the origi full protocol"
1. Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand Name Lalit Srivastava Sanjeev Bhardwaj Aarthi Kamath Irina Al-Khairi	PI Post-dog MSc MSc PI PS PS PS PS PS PS PS PS PS PS PS PS PS	s and of a hnician, r of the stu fer to <u>ww</u> tion	I individuals who will be essarch assistant, under ident and the supervision wanimalcare.megill.ca for Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theo McGill course, work To attend Mcgill courso To attend Mcgill courso	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate a received must be o or details. Each per Occupational H Program * ry kshop urse urse	mals in student lescribe son liste lealth yes yes yes yes yes	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m Signature "Has read the origi full protocol" "Hankthe H Johan
1. Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand Name Lalit Srivastava Sanjeev Bhardwaj Aarthi Kamath Irina Al-Khairi * Indicate for each person	rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role onnel listed here. Re as needed) Classificat PI Post-doc MSc MSc a, if participating in the	s and of al hnician, r of the str fer to <u>ww</u> fion c e local OH	I individuals who will be esearch assistant, under ident and the supervision wanimalcare.mcgill.ca for Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theo: McGill course, worh To attend Mcgill course To attend Mcgill course P Program, see http://www	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate received must be o or details. Each per Occupational H Program * Ty kshop urse urse .mcgill.ca/rgo/animal	mals in student lescribe son liste lealth yes yes yes yes	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m "Has read the origi full protocol" "White the forthe the fo
1. Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand) Name Lalit Srivastava Sanjeev Bhardwaj Aarthi Kamath Irina Al-Khairi * Indicate for each person	Qualifications rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role onnel listed here. Re <i>as needed</i>) Classificat PI Post-doo MSc MSc a, if participating in the	s and of al hnician, t of the stu fer to <u>ww</u> tion C c	Il individuals who will be essearch assistant, under ident and the supervision w.animalcare.mcgill.ca fo Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theo McGill course, worl To attend Mcgill co To attend Mcgill co P Program, see http://www Approved by:	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate received must be o or details. Each per Occupational H Program * ry kshop urse urse 	mals in student lescribe son liste (ealth yes yes yes yes yes	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m Signature "Has read the origi full protocol" White the Haster the former the sector ional for details.
 Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand Name Lalit Srivastava Sanjeev Bhardwaj Aarthi Kamath Irina Al-Khairi Indicate for each person 2. Approval Sign 	Qualifications rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role connel listed here. Re <i>as needed</i>) Classificat PI Post-doc MSc MSc n, if participating in the natures	s and of al hnician, t of the stu fer to <u>ww</u> tion c e local OH	Il individuals who will be essarch assistant, under ident and the supervision w.animalcare.megill.ca for Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theo McGill course, worl To attend Mcgill co To attend Mcgill co P Program, see http://www Approved by:	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate preceived must be condenais. Each per Occupational H Program * Ty kshop urse arse	mals in student describe son liste (ealth yes yes yes yes yes yes	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m Signature "Has read the origi full protocol" """"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
1. Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand Name Lalit Srivastava Sanjeev Bhardwaj Aarthi Kamath Irina Al-Khairi * Indicate for each person 2. Approval Sign Principal Investigator/	Qualifications rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role connel listed here. Re as needed) Classificat PI Post-doc MSc MSc a, if participating in the natures Course Director	s and of al hnician, t of the stu fer to <u>ww</u> tion c e <u>local OH</u>	Il individuals who will be essarch assistant, under ident and the supervision w. animalcare.megill.ca fo Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theo McGill course, work To attend Mcgill co To attend Mcgill co P Program, see http://www Approved by:	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate a received must be o or details. Each per Occupational H Program * Ty kshop urse urse 	mals in student lescribe son liste (ealth yes yes yes yes yes Voccupat	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m Signature "Has read the origi full protocol" """"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
 Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand Name Lalit Srivastava Sanjeev Bhardwaj Aarthi Kamath Irina Al-Khairi * Indicate for each person Approval Sign Principal Investigator/ Chair, Facility Animal 	Qualifications rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role connel listed here. Re as needed)	s and of a h hnician, 1 of the sti fer to <u>ww</u> tion c e local OH	I individuals who will be essarch assistant, under ident and the supervision wanimalcare.mcgill.ca for Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theor McGill course, theor McGill course, work To attend Mcgill course of the theory of the theory of the Program, see http://www Approved by:	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate received must be of or details. Each per Occupational H Program * ry kshop urse urse 	mals in student lescribe son liste (ealth yes yes yes yes yes yes yes yes yes yes	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m "Has read the origin full protocol" "Halt Kucht Dotum ional/ for details. 30, 2005 F 9 05
1. Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand Name Lalit Srivastava Sanjeev Bhardwaj Aarthi Kamath Irina Al-Khairi * Indicate for each person 2. Approval Sign Principal Investigator/ Chair, Facility Animal UACC Veterinarian Chairnerson Ethics St	Qualifications rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role onnel listed here. Re as needed) Classificat PI Post-dou MSc MSc a, if participating in the natures Course Director Care Committee	s and of al hnician, t of the str fer to <u>ww</u> tion c e <u>local OH</u>	I individuals who will be essearch assistant, under ident and the supervision w.animalcare.mcgill.ca for Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theo: McGill course, worl To attend Mcgill course of the theory of the theory of the To attend Mcgill course Program, see http://www Approved by:	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate preceived must be of or details. Each per Occupational H Program * ry kshop urse urse 	mals in student lescribe son liste lealth yes yes yes yes yes yes yes yes yes	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m "Has read the origi full protocol" "Has the origi full protocol" "Has the full onal for details. "So, Doods" F 9 05 PT 9 2005
 Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all perso sign. (Space will expand : Name Lalit Srivastava Sanjeev Bhardwaj Aarthi Kamath Irina Al-Khairi Indicate for each person Approval Sign Principal Investigator/ Chair, Facility Animal UACC Veterinarian Chairperson, Ethics St (D level or Teaching Prot 	Qualifications rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role connel listed here. Re <i>as needed</i>)	s and of al hnician, t of the stu fer to <u>ww</u> tion c e local OH	Il individuals who will be essearch assistant, under ident and the supervision w.animalcare.mcgill.ca for Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theo. McGill course, worl To attend Mcgill course of the theory of the theory of the Program, see http://www Approved by: McG. Carmothic Carmothic Carmothics	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate preceived must be o or details. Each per Occupational H Program * ry kshop urse urse 	mals in student lescribe son liste (ealth yes yes yes yes yes yes yes yes yes yes	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is ed in this section m Signature "Has read the origi full protocol" """"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""
1. Personnel and List the names of the Pr employment classificati undergraduate student mandatory for all persos sign. (Space will expand Name Lalit Srivastava Sanjeev Bhardwaj Aarthi Kamath Irina Al-Khairi * Indicate for each person 2. Approval Sign Principal Investigator/ Chair, Facility Animal UACC Veterinarian Chairperson, Ethics St (D level or Teaching Prot Approved Animal Use	Qualifications rincipal Investigator ion (investigator, tec is involved, the role is involved, the role onnel listed here. Re <i>as needed</i>) Classificat PI Post-dou MSc MSc a, if participating in the natures 'Course Director Care Committee <i>ocols Only</i>) Period	s and of al hnician, t of the stu fer to <u>ww</u> tion c e local OH C Start:	I individuals who will be essarch assistant, under ident and the supervision wanimalcare.megill.ca for Animal Related Training Information McGill course, Theor McGill course, worl To attend Mcgill co To attend Mcgill co To attend Mcgill co P Program, see http://www Approved by: Approved by: Approved by: Approved by: Approved by:	in contact with ani graduate/ graduate a received must be conditioned of details. Each per Occupational H Program * Ty kshop urse urse 	mals in student lescribe son liste (ealth yes yes yes yes yes yes yes loccupat	this study and thei , fellow). If an d. Training is d in this section m Signature "Has read the origing full protocol" """"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""